

# **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# **Effective Onboarding Strategies to Increase Talent Retention**

Mark L. Carpenter Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Mark L. Carpenter

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Janie Hall, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Olivia Herriford, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Denise Land, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

### Abstract

# Effective Onboarding Strategies to Increase Talent Retention

by

Mark L. Carpenter

MBA, Webster University, 2005

BS, University of Louisville, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

#### Abstract

Human resource (HR) leaders are concerned about the adverse effects of employee turnover on employees and organizational success. Without a successful introduction to the corporate culture, employees may be more likely to exit their positions, resulting in higher recruitment costs and lower productivity for companies. Grounded in social exchange theory, the purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore onboarding strategies organizational HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. The participants were six HR leaders at light manufacturing companies in the United States Midwest region who successfully reduced employee turnover. Data from semistructured interviews and publicly available documents were analyzed following Yin's five-step process. Three themes emerged: (a) develop onboarding strategies, (b) onboard capable talent, and (c) provide leadership support. A key recommendation for business leaders is to develop and implement onboarding programs that foster a sense of connection between the employee and the organization. The implications for positive social change could include personal and economic enrichment for employees, their families, and the community through reduced turnover and greater stability.

# Effective Onboarding Strategies to Increase Talent Retention

by

Mark L. Carpenter

MBA, Webster University, 2005 BS, University of Louisville, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2023

### Dedication

I dedicate this study to my wonderful family, whom I love very much. My loving parents, Homer, and Mary taught me responsibility for oneself, the value of hard work, and commitment. To my wife, Susan, and daughter, Kristina, who supported me throughout this process, functioned as my soundposts, and sanity checks. To my siblings, who have offered me inspiration through their support and own achievements. To the young people in my life: my nephews; nieces; and sweet baby grandson, Ethan. I am excited to see you all grow and to witness the lives you build for yourselves. I hope that completing this doctoral study imparts the value of lifelong learning and the ability to accomplish your dreams and aspirations. I am grateful for this opportunity and incredibly thankful for my life and the people in it.

# Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge my doctoral committee for their outstanding dedication to education and positive impact on my life. To my doctoral study chair, Dr. Janie Hall, your investment of time, commitment to my success, and supportive enthusiasm made this accomplishment possible. I notably thank Dr. Olivia Herriford and Dr. Denise Land for their unending encouragement throughout the completion of this process. Further, my academic advisor, Dr. Richard Hay, helped me stay on track with his professional guidance that propelled my success. To my Walden colleagues, I am grateful to have shared this experience with you. Thank you for sharing your life experiences and academic and professional insights throughout this process. We unified through frustrations and successes; remember, persistence will get you there. Finally, I would like to thank all my family and friends who encouraged and supported me throughout my academic pursuits and life.

# Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	6
	Interview Questions	6
	Conceptual Framework	7
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
	Assumptions	8
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	10
	Implications for Social Change	10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Onboarding Overview	12
	SET as the Conceptual Framework	15
	Corresponding Theories: Human Capital and Expectancy Theories	20

	Talent Management	24
	Onboarding and SET	28
	Corporate Brand	35
	Recruitment of Capable Talent	40
	Employee Engagement and SET	42
	Competitive Advantage and SET	46
	Transition	49
Se	ection 2: The Project	50
	Purpose Statement	50
	Role of the Researcher	50
	Participants	52
	Research Method and Design	54
	Research Method	54
	Research Design	55
	Ethical Research	58
	Data Collection Instruments	60
	Data Collection Technique	61
	Data Organization Technique	63
	Data Analysis	65
	Reliability and Validity	67
	Reliability	67
	Validity	68

Confirmability	70
Data Saturation	70
Transition and Summary	70
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	72
Introduction	72
Presentation of the Findings.	73
Theme 1: Develop Onboarding Strategies	<b>7</b> 4
Theme 2: Onboard Capable Talent	78
Theme 3: Provide Leadership Support	82
Applications to Professional Practice	86
Implications for Social Change	88
Recommendations for Action	89
Development of an Onboarding Plan	90
Internal Talent Development	90
Mentorship Programs	91
Recommendations for Further Research	92
Reflections	93
Conclusion	95
References	97
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	129
Appendix R: Telephone Protocol	131

# List of Tables

T.1.1. 1 D	C N / - ! TI	D	
Table i Fredilency	zor Maior Themes	in Participant Responses	12
radic 1. I requeste	of Major Themes	m i ditterpant itesponses	

# Section 1: Foundation of the Study

#### **Background of the Problem**

Organizational leaders use employee onboarding processes to align hiring practices with strategic goals, including retention Onboarding is a learning process that introduces a new hire to the organization's cultural expectations to assist with transition and socialization (Becker & Bishb, 2019). New hires form lasting impressions of an organization within the first few days of taking a new position (Chillakuri, 2020). Positive onboarding experiences can enhance an employee's understanding of their role in the organization. Onboarding is essential; a 2020 multinational study revealed that 57% of new hires had turnover intentions within the first two years of accepting a new position (Hommey et al., 2020). Employee turnover in organizations can cost employers millions of dollars annually in replacement costs (Jabutay & Rungruang, 2020). For these reasons, employers may consider investing adequate resources in dynamic onboarding processes.

The investment and development of talent is lost if an organization's human resources (HR) strategy does not correspond with strategic initiatives. Leaders who support core HR competencies and invest in people can develop skill sets relative to the organization's needs (Sanchez et al., 2018). Therefore, HR leaders may benefit from strategizing and incorporating mechanisms emphasizing onboarding processes that create value for the organization.

# **Problem and Purpose**

Employee turnover related to ineffective onboarding processes can cost an organization up to 40% of an employee's annual salary (Friedman & Neutze, 2020). Organizations can spend as much as \$3,479 on recruiting per U.S.-based employee, equal to 92% of median monthly earnings in replacement costs (Acharya & Wee, 2020). The general business problem was that some organizations lack effective onboarding strategies that support employee retention. The specific business problem was that some organizational HR leaders in the midwestern light manufacturing industry experienced employee turnover because of ineffective onboarding strategies.

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore the onboarding strategies that organizational HR leaders used to reduce employee turnover. The sample population consisted of six corporate HR leaders who had successfully implemented onboarding strategies to reduce employee turnover in midwestern light manufacturing companies. The potential implications for positive social change of improving onboarding processes include improved employee satisfaction and financial stability that could bolster living standards in midwestern communities.

## **Population and Sampling**

According to Blaikie (2018), the objective of the study should be the basis for determination of its sample size. When applying the qualitative method, the sample size is adequate when data saturation produces no additional themes. The significance of data saturation is the quantity and quality of data needed to support the research and not the number of participants. Data saturation could support rigor and validity with three

participants in a qualitative study (Vasileiou et al., 2018). I selected a sample population of six HR leaders who had successfully implemented onboarding programs in midwestern light manufacturing companies.

I obtained participants through purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling involves recruiting participants who meet established criteria and are most qualified to answer the research question (Farrugia, 2019). Researchers use purposeful sampling to validate participant qualifications and alignment with the purpose statement and research question (Morales Serazzi et al., 2021). These populations may possess in-depth knowledge relative to their roles and contribute to data saturation and validity. Spontaneous participants may possess in-depth knowledge relative to their roles to further contribute to data saturation and validity.

The location of the interview contributes to the quality of the data collected. The participant should be comfortable that the interview setting is devoid of power differentials; otherwise, the environment may induce partial responses (Nowak & Haynes, 2018). With the participant's cooperation, the interviews took place by phone to mitigate the threat of COVID-19 and any undue financial burden related to geographical constraints.

Blaikie (2018) focused on the debate of sample size and its influence on data saturation concerning what constitutes a sufficient sample size. Further, Blaikie argued that current review practices require researchers to identify precise numbers of participants before the convening of the study and, in most cases, to gain approval for the study. Although a delimited sample size provides a systematic review of studies, data

collection and quality could suffer through a definitive participant sample size. Sample inflexibility gives the potentially false perception that sample size is adequate to achieve data saturation when a final number is undetermined (Hennink & Kaiser, 2022).

Data saturation occurs when there is no new information gathered through additional data gathering (Vasileiou et al., 2018). Saturation occurs when data from interviews yield no new themes or discoveries in data collection. Other standards can define this determination. According to Blaikie (2018), a primary consideration in achieving saturation is the sample size. As Blaikie suggests, many qualitative researchers allocate a specific number and group of participants for interviews. When considering sample size, the study's nature and research question are the basis for the determination of the sample size, which would determine saturation (Blaikie, 2018). The population for this study was six participants. I collected data until I achieved saturation through thematic analysis.

### **Nature of the Study**

I chose the qualitative research method because it allowed me to explore certain phenomena that the quantitative method might not have captured. Researchers use three primary methods in conducting research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Liu, 2022). I did not select the quantitative method because quantitative researchers focus on discovering whether a statistical relationship exists between predictor and criterion variables. Researchers use the quantitative method to analyze and establish statistical inference (Dawadi et al., 2021). I did not select the mixed methods approach due to its reliance on quantitative data. The quantitative aspect of mixed methods

research involves the application of statistical analysis to yield quantitative findings (Dawadi et al., 2021). The mixed method was not appropriate for this study. For the study, I opted to use the qualitative research method. As Bastable et al. (2022) noted, qualitative researchers seek to develop an exhaustive analysis of spoken words, observations, and documents. This approach was in line with the study purpose.

The research designs considered for this study were phenomenological, ethnographic, and single and multiple-case studies. Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand the participant's lived experiences about the phenomena (Kianto et al., 2019). I did not select the phenomenological design because it focuses on the individual meaning and interpretation of a phenomenon. Researchers use the ethnographic design to examine group cultures and dynamics in their environment concerning the phenomena (Alexander & Smith, 2019). The ethnographic design was not appropriate because I did not study how individuals interact within their group or cultural setting. I did not choose the single and multiple-case study designs because they rely on observations, organizational documents, and artifacts to discover and study the participant's lived experiences in their real-life context (Yin, 2018). Document review is a significant data source for single and multiple-case studies and requires access to an organization's policies and procedures (Yeong et al., 2018). I did not select a single or multiple-case design for this study. I selected the generic qualitative design for this study. Researchers use the generic design to explore the phenomenon through the lived experiences and perspectives of the participant (Jahja et al., 2021). The primary source of data is semistructured interviews with industry leaders. A significant advantage of the

generic design is that it does not require permissive access to an organization and its documents (Blom et al., 2020). The generic qualitative design was best suited for addressing the research question.

#### **Research Question**

What onboarding strategies do organizational HR leaders develop to reduce employee turnover because of ineffective onboarding strategies in the midwestern light manufacturing industry?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What onboarding strategies do you use to reduce employee turnover?
- 2. What role does onboarding play in achieving strategic goals?
- 3. What elements of your onboarding program are the most successful in reducing employee turnover?
- 4. What elements of your onboarding program have been the least successful in reducing employee turnover?
- 5. How do you determine if the onboarding strategy is successful in reducing employee turnover?
- 6. What challenges have you faced in implementing an onboarding strategy to reduce employee turnover?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share about the onboarding strategies you used to reduce employee turnover?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

I selected the social exchange theory (SET) as the conceptual framework for this study. Blau (1964) developed SET and emphasized the principles of reciprocal exchange between two or more participants that provide mutual benefits. Blau theorized the basis for SET as the concept of rewards and punishments for a given set of circumstances and behaviors. Using a subjective cost-benefit analysis, Peccei and Van De Voorde (2019) suggested that human relationships are voluntary and generally based on reciprocity, where each party benefits from the exchange. According to Jeong and Oh (2017), SET supports the foundation of origination and meaning by explaining mutual benefit relationships for a given set of circumstances and behaviors. Reciprocal relationships advance the benefits gained through a mutual exchange of any combination of goods, services, and information (Ferm & Thaichon, 2021). The defining concept of SET is reciprocity that validates the exchange relationship (Cappelli et al., 2019). SET offers a theoretical foundation for the rationalization of an exchange relationship between two or more parties (Shin et al., 2022). In this study, SET provided a lens for understanding the participants' work interactions and understanding the study's relevance in relation to the research question.

## **Operational Definitions**

Onboarding: A process designed to (a) create a sense of belonging in new employees, who develop a greater perception of commitment to the organization; (b) enhance performance, and (c) reduce turnover (Caldwell & Peters, 2018).

Organizational socialization: A process of role acceptance where the employee internalizes and accepts environmental norms as an organizational insider (He et al., 2020).

*Reflexivity*: A process where researchers, before undertaking a study and while conducting it, reflect on their experiences relative to the study topic to ensure that findings are devoid of researcher bias (Wadams & Park, 2018).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are unverified truths that provide the researcher with a foundation for discovery and validation (Hristov & Chirico, 2019). The principal assumption was that participants answered the open-ended questions honestly and without reservation or agenda. A principal assumption is that the participants trusted that I managed all their participation elements ethically and per Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) standards. Finally, I assumed I had collected enough data to address the research question adequately.

#### Limitations

Limitations are elements that are beyond the researcher's control or the scope of the study (Bastable et al., 2022). Because of the subjective nature of qualitative studies, researchers rely on participants' personal accounts of the phenomena (Yin, 2018). Participant bias could have affected the reliability of the data collected for this research. Respondents had the option of changing their responses during the member checking process, which could have had a negative impact on the meaning of their answers.

Additionally, the participant's willingness could have affected responses to present their position or experiences in a positive or negative light in contrast to actual circumstances.

#### **Delimitations**

Researchers impose delimitations to limit a study's scope and support attainable objectives (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2018). Delimitations begin with the problem statement. Researchers use the problem statement to provide boundaries that focus the study on a specific phenomenon to reduce vagueness and identify the study's intent. Delimiters of my research were the design and number of participants. My decision to use the generic design meant that data types and specific participant events included in the study were limited (see Dvorak et al., 2020). I delimited the geographical area of study to midwestern light manufacturers. Additionally, I limited my participant pool to HR leaders with experience developing and implementing the organization's onboarding process.

### **Significance of the Study**

Ineffective onboarding strategies can foster employee perceptions that the organization does not value human capital (HC), which can contribute to reducing employee commitment and increased turnover. Becker and Bishb (2019) distinguished employee socialization from onboarding by identifying socialization as a selected social characteristic where the individual makes the concerted effort to connect with the organization. Further, organizational leaders use the onboarding process to introduce the environment and expectations to encourage integration through socialization (Cesario & Chambel, 2019). Organizational commitment is a positive attribute of an effective

onboarding program (Vaneet & Neha, 2018). Individuals and communities benefit from employment stability. Employees who identify with a lively introduction to an organization demonstrate higher commitment and productivity levels and are less likely to experience turnover intention (He et al., 2020). Successful onboarding practices contribute to reduced turnover and positive social change by maintaining a productive and stable workforce.

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Onboarding plays a significant role in shaping an employee's view of a new organization. HR leaders who practice effective onboarding can maintain a stable workforce and demonstrate higher commitment and performance (Cesario & Chambel, 2019). From an HR perspective, talent recruitment and retention are vital determinants of policy success (Vaneet & Neha, 2018). Therefore, organizational leaders who implement successful onboarding programs are more likely to retain HC and achieve sustained operational performance and increased market share.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The social impact of onboarding could extend beyond the profitability of an organization. The costs to the individual from turnover are lost wages, breaks in employment, and the psychological stress caused by the threat of financial ruin (Virgolino et al., 2022). The effects on communities include reduced consumer spending, tax dollars lost, and a decreased tax base (Van Belle et al., 2018). Organizations whose leaders execute a successful onboarding strategy could contribute to a stable workforce increasing the standard of living for employees and their community.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this literature review is to examine existing literature on onboarding strategies used to reduce turnover and maintain a stable, competitive workforce. Levitt et al. (2021) asserted that a thorough review and understanding of relevant literature enhances the study's coherence, academic rigor, and reliability as the data collection instrument. Accordingly, I conducted a thorough analysis of literature on contemporary processes that drive successful onboarding strategies. The successful implementation of these elements contributes to employee stability, competitive advantage, and a successful onboarding strategy (Haseli et al., 2021). The literature review portion that addresses the conceptual framework should align with the study (Smith, 2018). The topics analyzed in the literature review include talent management, core values, corporate brand, and attraction and retention of top talent.

The conceptual framework, SET, links current onboarding literature to the research question and the interview questions. By analyzing relevant literature, I was able to clarify the business problem and address the research question. I searched the Walden University Library and search engines, including Academic Search Complete, ABI/INFORM, Business Source Complete, Emerald, Google Scholar, and ProQuest Central, to acquire relevant literature. Also, I used citation chaining to locate relevant peer-reviewed articles published within 5 years. Researchers use citation links between publications to broaden the literature search (Hirt et al., 2020). Search terms used to find electronic resources were *onboarding*, *socialization*, *turnover*, *turnover intentions*, *employee motivation*, *employee engagement*, *organizational culture*, *corporate culture*,

organizational development, sustainability, competitive advantage, position fit, business performance, job satisfaction, and social responsibility. The remainder of this literature review contains a critical analysis of the substantial effects onboarding has on individual and organizational success. The study includes 202 articles and books, with 94% (190) of the literature from peer-reviewed sources. Eighty-five percent (172) of the total sources were peer reviewed with a publication date of 5 years or less from the anticipated study completion date; 15% (30) of total sources were 6 years or greater, with four articles obtained from seminal sources.

## **Onboarding Overview**

I designed this generic qualitative study to explore and analyze effective onboarding strategies used by leaders in midwestern light manufacturing. Investment in and development of talent is lost if an organization's HR strategy does not correspond with its strategic initiatives (Reina et al., 2018). SET is premised on an exchange relationship between two or more parties based on mutual benefit (Shin et al., 2022). Therefore, SET relationships revolve around the benefits gained through a mutual exchange of any combination of goods, services, and information. (Shin et al., 2022). The defining concept of SET is reciprocity that validates the exchange relationship (Cappelli et al., 2019). A thorough review of the literature supported the relationship between SET and employee onboarding.

Talent recruitment and retention are essential responsibilities of HR leaders. By understanding core HR competencies, an organization's leaders are able to invest in people to develop critical skills and objectives (Burns, 2018). HR leaders who invest in

onboarding processes create value for the organization. Stofkova and Sukalova (2020) point out that a competent workforce reflects a strategically aligned HR function which sets the foundation for employee engagement. Further, developing HR competencies that invest in people demonstrates an interest in the employee, creating value for the organization and reinforcing employee trust in relationships (Sharma & Stol, 2020). An essential first step for a new hire is the initial contact with the organization, which sets a secure foundation for the connection (De Smet et al., 2021). Through effective onboarding processes, organizations can ensure that new hires have background knowledge of goals and strategy, potentially enculturating and orienting them to their new surroundings (Caldwell & Peters, 2018). Additionally, effective onboarding contributes to internalized personal interests that translate to a committed workforce that support their leadership and achievement of organizational goals (Raheem & Khan, 2019). As commitment grows, both leaders and employees become more engaged with one another's presence and function, creating a more stable relationship (Jeong & Oh, 2017).

The purpose of workforce onboarding is to support the effective professional and operational integration of new employees (Chillakuri, 2020). Onboarding can begin before a new hire's first workday. Preboarding is a component of onboarding that occurs during the initial contact with a prospective employee before the first day of work (Shufutinsky & Cox, 2019). Early and frequent contact with new employees effectively prepares them for their first day of onboarding and keeps them excited about their new position and the company (Hills, 2022). Preboarding is an effective method of preparing

new hires for their first day of work. Workforce onboarding strategically links organizational goals and customs to employee achievement (Hommey et al., 2020). Correspondingly, the first impression of the organization the employee experiences can have a lasting impact on their performance and willingness to stay with the company (Chillakuri, 2020). Since 57% of new hires surveyed in the U.S. and the United Kingdom had turnover intentions within the first 2 years of accepting their position, the importance of successful onboarding and reducing turnover is evident (He et al., 2020). Organizations that have an effective onboarding process first have a hiring process that establishes a person, position fit before their first day of work. Neither organizations nor employees can afford excessive turnover due to investment costs and lost wages (Van Belle et al., 2018). Onboarding enables a process that makes employees feel welcomed and socialized in organizational norms and promotes a stable workforce that achieves a competitive advantage (Moon et al., 2021). Therefore, onboarding processes are the result of significant talent management initiatives designed to maintain a stable operational environment (Moon et al., 2021).

Successful talent management strategies support reliable performance and a workforce that is in tune with the achievement of organizational goals. Therefore, an organization's ability to achieve market sustainability relies on strategic decisions that enhance competitive advantage (Liu et al., 2021). Investment in onboarding achieves competitive advantage through employee programs and synchronization of HR strategies that meet organizational goals and the associate's personal and professional goals (Meyers et al., 2020).

As the development process continues to meld, strategic alignment between HR and corporate strategy reduces the risk of perceived misguided policies and actions that reduce employee trust and commitment. HC investments that incorporate productivity measures related to personnel inputs such as onboarding can provide hard, measurable evidence that HR strategies are effective (Stofkova & Sukalova, 2020). Finally, investing in people can potentially create a positive return on investment from HR talent management activities. Onboarding is an iterative process that begins with the initial employee contact and can take several weeks or months to complete depending on the positional requirements (Cesario & Chambel, 2019). There is a mutual exchange between the employee and organization during onboarding, where expectations are identified and acknowledged (Kirchner & Stull, 2021). Once accepted, expectations provide a foundation for a mutually beneficial relationship where all parties have a set of complementary objectives to work toward (Jashari & Kutllovci, 2020). Leaders use onboarding to reduce turnover and demonstrate an organization's commitment to the new hire.

#### **SET** as the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework clarifies the meaning of a study by explaining relationships between conjecture and observation (Gervasi et al., 2022). The conceptual framework for this study was SET. HR leaders use SET to promote productive exchange relationships during the onboarding process (Porter, 2018). The theory's application provides a foundational lens for researchers to investigate phenomena without repeating existing findings (Smith, 2018). From an HR purview, SET offers a conceptual

framework for developing strategies unique to the organization that address operational needs (Gervasi et al., 2022). Blau (1964), who developed the SET framework, theorized its basis as the reliance on the concept of rewards and punishments for a given succession of circumstances and behaviors. According to Blau, SET developed from the rule of justice where individuals expect a fair investment to yield a reasonable return. The perception of fairness creates personal feelings of equality and goal achievement resulting from a mutually agreed-upon transaction.

Successful working relationships relate to individual expectations of contribution and achievement (Hommey et al., 2020). SET illustrates the concept of positive or negative outcomes for a given set of circumstances and behaviors (Cappelli et al., 2019). According to SET, all human relationships create a cost-benefit analysis that correlates job satisfaction and worker loyalty with positive management interactions. Additionally, higher leader engagement generates a stronger sense of commitment from employees. Verma et al. (2022) posited job satisfaction as an example of a positive social exchange outcome that correlates job satisfaction and worker loyalty with positive management interactions. Higher leader engagement generates a more robust sense of commitment from employees through effective onboarding programs (Wongsuwan & Na-Nan, 2022). Trust plays a significant role in social exchange relationships. Unlike economic exchanges that conclude with a monetary transaction, social transfers derive from respect, trust, and shared goals (Ferm & Thaichon, 2021). By applying SET principles to advanced onboarding programs, organizational leaders can maintain a competitive edge despite challenges in retaining a robust and talented workforce. SET establishes a

theoretical foundation that rationalizes an exchange relationship between two or more parties (Shin et al., 2022). The exchange relationship evolves around the benefits gained through a mutual exchange of any combination of goods, services, and information (Ferm & Thaichon, 2021). SET expresses a conceptual explanation of how effective business relationships develop. Furthermore, three broad categories characterize SET: rewards, resources, and costs (Bibi et al., 2018). SET is based on interpersonal exchanges that create value for all participants (DeBode et al., 2017). Participants form their decision to engage in a transaction by weighing the rewards, costs, and resources related to doing so (Bibi et al., 2018).

Extrinsic and intrinsic rewards derive from the exchange relationship (Victor & Hoole, 2017). Extrinsic rewards are tangible benefits derived from performing a task with the expectation of positive recognition, monetary payment, or risk avoidance (Victor & Hoole, 2017). In contrast, intrinsic rewards are nontangible, internalized feelings of fulfillment in completing a task or some other form of personal achievement (Victor & Hoole, 2017). Resources are essential to a social exchange because they fulfill the exchange transaction (Lin et al., 2019). Additionally, resources are the mechanisms that both parties use to influence each other, which transmit through mutual reciprocation (Saffer, 2019).

Social exchanges influence enduring relationships. The costs of social exchange relationships include investments in time, energy, and capital (Blau, 1964). Costs form the bond of a relationship where the participants make informed assessments of the value of the transaction (Lin et al., 2019). Prospective new hires evaluate the potential benefits

of employment during the initial contact. Employees and employers must weigh relationship costs when making employment and retention decisions to determine if the business exchange is beneficial (Jeong & Oh, 2017). Exchange costs derive from the rewards or benefits each party gains through investing their resources (Bibi et al., 2018). Positive social exchanges can influence the success of business outcomes through mutual consideration.

In professional environments, most relationships derive from mutually beneficial exchanges. Leaders who build networks through trust and commitment have contributed to employee engagement and organizational solvency (Nagpal, 2022). Employees expect fair treatment and pay as employers expect dependability and honest work. Positive exchange relationships contribute to increased employee engagement and performance. According to Hosseini et al. (2022), engaged employees demonstrate higher commitment and motivation, which translates to increased productivity. These characteristics are not limited to employee performance. At all levels, individuals who build relationships and networks through trust and commitment are more engaged, perform better, and are less likely to leave an organization (Nagpal, 2022).

SET influences most relationships. The foundations of SET are reciprocal relationships developed to achieve mutual and individual goals that produce a competitive advantage (Huang et al., 2018). According to Gervasi et al. (2022), the SET should evolve to reflect the changing nature of exchange relationships in an increasingly ambiguous global market. Mutual understanding of goals and needs supports a resilient working environment. Therefore, it is incumbent upon HR leaders to address rapid

change and a diverse workforce (He et al., 2020). Individual needs can make it challenging to realize positive outcomes consistently. The time needed to build confidence in certain business relationships may be beyond the scope of SET (Porter, 2018). Mutually beneficial relationships are a prominent component of SET. A discussion of the limitations of SET follows.

#### A Potential Weakness of SET

SET is based on exchange relationships that could create obstacles due to role imbalances. Shin et al. (2022) discussed three criteria that are generally present in social exchange and could reveal limitations of the theory: an initiating action, a relationship between parties, and reciprocation. A person of authority often completes the initiating step of an exchange relationship. If one party influences the other, a perceived imbalance may exist. Although an exchange exists, there is a controlling interest that initiates the action with an advantage over the other.

Perceived exchange inequalities can result in counterproductive work behaviors. According to Zhang et al. (2019), counterproductive work behaviors surface when social exchanges harm one actor or the other; they reflect a low quality of interaction.

Inequitable transactions are a typical result of doing business where harmful or deviant behaviors influence the original goals and impair the exchange (Flaherty et al., 2020).

Though the definitions of inequitable practices can be broad and misleading, they generally involve the misalignment of goals and strategies (Flaherty et al., 2020). The link between mutually beneficial exchanges and purposes demonstrates a two-

dimensional relationship where quality of discussion is derived from the level of help or harm the engagement generates (Shin et al., 2022).

The purpose of this study was to demonstrate the relationship between psychological contracts and tactics used to achieve adequate employee socialization.

Employee socialization is defined as the methods used to convey organizational expectations and standards for the new employee to understand the cultural foundation (DeBode et al., 2017). Socialization is dependent on the employee's willingness to adhere to organizational norms.

The concept of a psychological contract refers to an individual's establishment of expectations linked to their relationship with leadership and the organization. The conceptual framework for this study, SET, involves midrange socialization. The midrange socialization model relies on context, content, and social dimensions to demonstrate socialization's impact. For socialization to support a person-organization fit, the interaction context must provide the employee with a clear understanding of their role, the corporate culture, and what they can expect from leadership (Li et al., 2022). Content provides the employee with the steps and information needed to accomplish the socialization process. These steps provide a structured timeline to reinforce understanding before moving forward (Li et al., 2022). Adequate socialization sets the tone for more positive exchange relationships as the working relationship progresses.

## **Corresponding Theories: Human Capital and Expectancy Theories**

Two theories that share similarities with SET and the concept of mutual exchange relationships are the HC theory (HCT) and expectancy theory (ET). Theoretical parities

exist in the social transactions between SET, HCT, and ET (Sanchez et al., 2018). A discussion of how each theory evolves around the expected results of an understanding where mutual needs are met based on individual investments follows.

# **Human Capital Theory**

Cost benefits should be a measure of investments in talent. The basis for HCT was economist Adam Smith's theory that investment in education and human-health capital is a means of achieving corporate and national wealth (Schultz, 1961). Through cost-benefit analysis, prospective employees have real-time information on most organizations and the ability to control their employment prospects (Motshwane & Van Niekerk, 2022). HCT is a framework of investment in the workforce through formal education and other skills-enhancing training (Burns, 2018). The HCT draws from those individuals' skill sets to acquire or possess that add a competitive advantage to the organization (Sanchez et al., 2018).

Employee development contributes to organizational success. A principal concept of HCT is investing in employees through formal and informal training (Verma et al., 2022). Although not limited to educational ventures, the HCT addresses other elements that provide a comprehensive approach to strategic HR management (SHRM; Raheem & Khan, 2019). The HCT focuses on individual development, with knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics, to increase productivity and employee satisfaction and reduce attrition rates (McCartney et al., 2021). Investing in employees can have positive benefits for the organization. By pursuing higher education, the employee can achieve higher pay, better positions, and increased productivity (Jooss et al., 2019). Though

education is the foundation of the theory, it incorporates the exchange functions relevant to compensation for knowledge and the expectation of higher wages for differentiated skills.

The HCT has evolved as a composite of other approaches. Concerning HR processes, HCT links HR management (HRM) and strategy by providing a functional relationship between employee capabilities and HR functions (Dayarathna et al., 2019). Researchers use SET to express relationships between two or more individualized concepts or constructs, reinforcing predictions about probable outcomes (Jooss et al., 2019). The conceptual framework provides a source of origination and meaning to a study by explaining relationships between conjecture and observations (Gervasi et al., 2022). Researchers use the conceptual framework to develop questions to answer during the study.

In deciding the theoretical construct for this study, the foundation was the influence HRM had on onboarding processes that reduced turnover. I selected SET due to the complexities of today's workforce and the importance of balanced social exchanges.

The HCT reinforces SET with its far-reaching view on HC investment, exchange relationships, and HRM constructs.

### Expectancy Theory

Vroom developed ET to investigate the expected outcomes in an employeremployee relationship (Pembi, 2019). ET is the foundational framework used to understand employees' cognitive processes for their work purpose (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). The function of effort is to characterize motivation that is the driving force behind goal achievement (Peccei & Van De Voorde, 2019). Goals develop through individual needs and aspirations. A challenge of ET is the identification of elements that motivate individuals to accomplish their goals and the organization's goals (Jeong & Oh, 2017). Vroom's theory of performance suggests that performance is a product of the employee's level of motivation to perform (Lloyd & Mertens, 2018). Similar to SET, the employee's motivation to act is related to the individual goals, expected gains, and the assumption that the employee will perform based on personal growth and success (Jeong & Oh, 2017). As a theoretical construct of SHRM, the SET provides a bridge between the achievements of shared goals. A reciprocal relationship's significance is achieving personal and professional goals through mutual dialogue, job satisfaction, and performance (Taba, 2018).

The cognitive processes employees apply to their purpose of work corroborate the function of ET. Employees' motivation drives their energy to achieve individual and corporate goals (Taba, 2018). Motivated employees perform better, which increases opportunities that perpetuate an effective succession of behaviors (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018). To realize employees' full potential, organizational leaders should cultivate employee motives that create a mutual sense of value and self-realization.

The challenge for SHRM is to develop strategies that address the multi-faceted views and needs of a competitive market and diverse workforce. One of the difficulties in applying ET is determining what motivates individuals to accomplish their goals and the organization (Peccei & Van De Voorde, 2019). Vroom's view of performance proposes

that performance is a product of the employee's ability to perform, depending on their motivation to act (Pembi, 2019). Employee purpose supports theory Y of the SET.

Mutual goals contribute to overall success. The employees' motivation to perform relates to their individual goals, expected gains, and the assumption that they will serve based on a mutual interdependence for success (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). A theoretical construct of SHRM, the SET provides the groundwork for organizational and employee achievement of mutual goals (Burns, 2018). The significance of the ET and SET relationship is that personal and professional goal achievement typically decreases turnover intentions (Virgolino et al., 2022). By implementing an effective onboarding process based on mutually beneficial exchanges, employee needs, and goals are clarified and acknowledged with expectations management (Britto et al., 2020).

#### **Talent Management**

Successful talent management initiatives are vital to the survival of an organization. Strategies based on theoretical models can provide operational and HR leaders with options that develop leadership styles and approaches to fluid environments (Sagnak et al., 2019). Leadership's role in talent management is critical to the success of any organizational strategy. Management involvement is a vital component in global talent management. At all levels of talent and performance, control, process acceptance, and ownership are a leadership obligation and not just the responsibility of HRM. When addressing leader development as a segment of the performance strategy, the organization can ensure that ethical decisions are the cultural norm rather than an exception (Raheem & Khan, 2019). Organizations build capabilities by hiring and developing competent

leaders. Once leaders possess the capacity to understand the organization's intricacies and strategies, they can employ and develop a compatible workforce.

Strategic alignment supports effective talent management. A competent workforce reflects a strategically aligned talent management initiative that sets the foundation for leader engagement (Lin & Huang, 2020). Expanding global markets has created intense competition for qualified HC, a critical asset in achieving organizational goals and competitive advantage (Habibi et al., 2019). Initiatives such as key performance indicators serve multiple roles in recruiting and retaining HC. By establishing these indicators, talent managers develop performance measures and expectations for employees and provide the mechanisms for achievement. Key performance indicators are intended to align corporate strategies with employee performance and development (Hristov & Chirico, 2019). Through the strategic alignment of performance measures, organizations can remain competitive by shaping their HC to meet a global market (Loon & Quan, 2021). HRM's ability to link its strategy with operational strategy provides the workforce with needed skills, clear objectives, and long-term sustainability.

### Strategy and Talent Management

Strategic planning involves a detailed understanding of corporate goals and processes. Organizational sustainability relies on executive planners' capacity to develop competitive strategies that are flexible enough to confront challenges on a global scale (Xiu et al., 2017). A primary source of competitive advantage, an organization's workforce, is one of the most valuable assets it has to affect strategy and achieve goals

(Gooderham et al., 2018). In developing a workforce, HR practices aligned with corporate strategy contribute to its enhanced performance (Jeong & Oh, 2017). High-performance work systems are systems that integrate operational and HR strategies to support goal achievement, and the workforce has the understanding and tools to perform. According to Huang et al. (2018), these systems are a combination of HRM programs that create incentives to elevate an individual's performance through investment and compensation. Such models strive to cultivate abilities, motivation, and opportunities that focus on performance achieved by directing employee behaviors (Guest, 2017). Like other models, high-performance work systems provide employees with varying levels of input and autonomy; organizations often place performance above employee well-being (Jeong & Oh, 2017). By successfully developing and implementing these systems, HR managers demonstrate their functional value as a strategic partner.

In business environments, most relationships focus on mutually beneficial exchanges. Although complimentary exchanges set the tone for workforce stability and satisfaction, it is essential to monitor the workplace environment to sustain productivity and contentment. In a seminal study, Freeman (1978) applied a labor environment to demonstrate that relative job security does not lead to job satisfaction. Freeman argues that job security may reduce turnover intentions but is only an antecedent to job satisfaction. Though job security contributes to a positive work environment, talent management practices that develop HC increase the knowledge and skill sets of the workforce experience and higher performance levels, leading to job satisfaction (Verma et al., 2022). Effective talent management processes promote knowledge enhancement

through networking, coaching, and team development (Younas & Bari, 2020). By developing tacit and explicit knowledge within an organization, higher performance levels contribute to job satisfaction and stability (Verma et al., 2022). Through complementary HR practices, corporations can develop a stable workforce and realize the benefits of investments in human capital.

Strategies must exist to locate and obtain qualified talent. Acquiring and retaining top talent in today's hypercompetitive global market should be an organization's number one priority (Zaharee et al., 2018). Because technology is at the forefront of most operational settings, organizations must acquire the talent needed to maintain a competitive advantage. According to Zhao and Detlor (2021), a corporate brand is a catalyst for attracting capable talent. Because millennials comprise the majority of the workforce and are technologically adept, they have the tools needed to research the companies that rate high in the brand and those who do not (Zaharee et al., 2018). Because organizations function on a culturally diverse global scale, developing a workforce capable of adapting to fluid and complicated environments is an operational imperative (Loon & Quan, 2021).

Talent growth requires a global outlook. The depth of complexities requires organizations to develop a technically savvy workforce that can communicate effectively and demonstrate emotional competencies that are creative and flexible (Asbari et al., 2020). To address the needs of diverse forces and globalization, talent managers must develop retention strategies that meet employee needs while maintaining competitiveness. By designing onboarding and development processes that create a sense

of belonging, employees understand the commitment to the organization, perform better, and tend to stay longer (Reina et al., 2018). Talent management and retention are essential to organizational success and are core HR functions.

### **Onboarding and SET**

Socialization and onboarding are two distinct approaches employers use to introduce new employees to the organizational culture. Onboarding is where employees encounter the organization, culture, and strategy while being given the tools to be productive workforce members (Sharma & Stol, 2020). Exemplary onboarding programs begin at the recruitment stage, socializes an employee to all aspects of the organization, and strategically focuses on supporting an appropriate fit between employees and organization. Slebarska et al. (2019) identify socialization as the internal process a new hire uses to understand and accept an organization's cultural norms. As a means of adapting to unfamiliar environments, observation and networking are specific behaviors a new employee may engage in to reinforce socialization (Slebarska et al., 2019).

Employee's use to gain knowledge of processes and the cultural nuances of their immediate surroundings (Slebarska et al., 2019). The consideration method of socialization is less invasive and helps set the stage for networking. New employees develop their network through direct observations. Systems enable the employee to connect with colleagues who possess exceptional qualities that shape the culture (Slebarska et al., 2019). Positive comments and networking influence learning and performance behaviors. New hires who have positive onboarding experiences

successfully integrate and sense high organizational support levels, which alleviate turnover intentions (Badshah & Bulut, 2020). The mitigation of turnover intentions supports a stable, productive workforce.

#### **Processes and Procedures**

Onboarding processes and procedures can differ depending on the level of the position. Byford et al. (2017) provided detailed insight and contrast on the components of executive onboarding. Executive onboarding differs from employee onboarding and socialization on several planes. Although the employee onboarding process synchronizes employee functions and socialization with corporate strategy, executive onboarding is exclusively strategic. The contact and influence organizations exercise involve the board of directors and government entities at all levels. The cost of executive-level failure can have a lasting financial and psychological impact on an organization (Byford et al., 2017). Many senior executives recruited from the outside require executive onboarding to synchronize individual qualifications with corporate goals and strategy. Critical onboarding areas such as providing outside hires with inside views are mitigated by providing the new executive with situational analysis (strategic onboarding activities), which provides a vital understanding of the executive's role (Xiu et al., 2017).

Corporate executives play a unique role in successful onboarding. The strategic approach to onboarding helps the executive gain an insider perspective of organizational needs regarding employee-job fit and accelerates the onboarding process (Sharma & Stol, 2020). Leaders should clearly understand the relationship between psychological contracts and tactics used to achieve adequate employee socialization. Employee

socialization conveys organizational expectations and standards to the new employee to have a cultural foundation to work from (Batistic, 2018). Achievable social arrangements rely on context, content, and social dimensions to demonstrate the impact of socialization (Caldwell & Peters, 2018). The psychological contract concept is where the individual establishes expectations linked to their relationship with leadership and the organization.

The psychological contract forms the employee's willingness to conform to the corporate culture. For socialization to support a person-organization fit, the interaction context must provide the employee with a clear understanding of operational roles, the corporate culture, and leadership (DeBode et al., 2017). Content provides the employee with the steps and information needed for socialization. Context and material provide a structured timeline to reinforce understanding before moving forward. Adequate socialization sets the tone for more positive exchange relationships as the working relationship progresses (DeBode et al., 2017). Socialization is unique to the employee and greatly influences a positive perception of the psychological contract.

Employees must understand their role in strategic goal achievement. Successful onboarding programs often demonstrate a person-organization fit through enhanced performance and workforce stability. According to DeBode et al. (2017), socialization and onboarding differ because onboarding is a process that enhances socialization. Socialization is the conscious acceptance of the organization's employee's culture and values (Kirchner & Stull, 2021). Though onboarding brings these elements to light, the employee must embrace them to support a person-organization fit. The employee is equally responsible for the process of success. As a participant and novice within the

establishment, the member is responsible for accepting or rejecting the socialization tactics. If the member denies the content, then successful socialization within the organization is unachievable (Gregory et al., 2022). Adequate socialization generally reflects a successful onboarding experience.

Employee turnover is costly and mitigated through positive social experiences. According to He et al. (2020), employee turnover intentions can be as high as 57% within the first 2 years of hire. Turnover is attributed to the processes HR managers use to onboard and socialize new hires. Successful onboarding processes set the foundation for a new hires' ability and willingness to accept the organization's social norms. Onboarding is a function of the organization; socialization is a conscious decision made by the new hire based on initial impressions (Batistic, 2018). When employees start their first day in a unique position, that first day is their first and most lasting impact.

Onboarding establishes expectation management and socialization for new employees by introducing them to the corporate culture and role. If the onboarding process is effective, turnover intentions diminish, productivity and sustainability increase (Moon et al., 2021).

Workforce reliability plays a key role in collective success. Organizations that effectively practice onboarding maintain a stable workforce and demonstrate higher commitment and performance levels (Becker & Bishb, 2019). By focusing on actions such as assigning sponsors to new hires, initial expectations of reception are met.

Sponsors that welcome the new hire and walk them through the process advance exceeded expectations of the program's value, creating an immediate sense of belonging

(Cesario & Chambel, 2019). Further, employee socialization differs from onboarding by recognizing socialization as a distinct and individual characteristic (Woodrow & Guest, 2020). The individual makes a concerted effort to connect with the organization through socialization. The decision point for the employee occurs during the initial contact with the organization.

The key to a successful introduction is the employee's perception that the organization can meet their personal and professional needs. Effective onboarding processes empower the new hire to understand better the working environment and expectations that support a willingness to integrate through socialization (Becker & Bishb, 2019). Finally, Woodrow and Guest (2020) demonstrate that employees who are welcomed on their first workday by an engaging and genuinely interested supervisor are more likely to stay with the organization in a more productive capacity. A festive reception enhances the employee's sense of organization and sets the tone for a continued, positive working relationship with the leadership and organization.

#### **Turnover Intentions**

Turnover intentions are indicative of an unfavorable initial contact with the organization. Turnover intentions exist when employees perceive that their expectations are unmet due to conflicting values (Vaneet & Neha, 2018). To illustrate employee expectations, factors that influence the implementation of individualized pay-for-performance (I-PFP) are discussed. I-PFP are incentives organizations use to increase performance and minimize turnover (Gooderham et al., 2018).

As a core function, I-PFP's help aligns HR strategy with organizational goals of improved performance, capacity, and talent management. Although there is empirical evidence supporting increased productivity and employee stability, there are conditions that can shape the successful implementation of I-PFP. Two critical factors can limit success: cultural and environmental influences and their impact on a firm's ability to employ I-PFP programs (Gooderham et al., 2018). The use of a quantitative survey sampled 4,207 firms across 26 countries. Native cultures are a determining factor of I-PFP implementation and success. European countries such as Germany demonstrate little success in I-PFP programs due to their regulatory and labor constraints. Because high rates of unionism and related cultural standards are prohibitive, I-PFP programs are almost impossible to employ. Countries with less regulatory intervention are more successful at I-PFP implementation due to lessened restrictions and increased leader autonomy. The significance of the findings affects multinational corporations and overseas expansions (Gooderham et al., 2018). As a strategic partner, HRM can guide regulatory issues that may influence operational success.

Employee-organization fit is central to employee retention. Reina et al. (2018) discussed poor selection and onboarding processes as primary reasons for exceptional turnover. Team members receive a detailed overview of team functions, benefits, and expectations then are brought in as members within their 1st year. Additionally, the team developed an onboarding program that addressed the early development of team members and time constraints produced by a university environment. Belizon and Kieran

(2021) identified two types of onboarding: institutional and relational. Institutional onboarding addresses the more administrative aspects of a new hire.

In contrast, relational onboarding focuses on the team members role with the organization in a more personal, firsthand way. The mentor program divides into specific groups based on team membership and experience where the member's position is a permanent presence throughout the process (Cai et al., 2021). Additionally, the mentor approach establishes a succession plan as the member develops into a mentor over time and experience. The mentor program is a self-perpetuating process that supports fit and stability in the workforce.

Reduced labor costs contribute to organizational success. According to Asbari et al. (2020), turnover costs increase directly to higher technical expertise levels. The cost of a wrong hiring decision is up to five times the new hire's annual salary. Additionally, costs incurred through wrongful termination litigation and the impact on the corporate brand. For example, most information technology organizations focus on the hard skills of a hiring action and less on soft skills. Hard skills are the technical knowledge required to perform the work, are generally transferable, and quickly evaluated (Asbari et al., 2020). Soft skills relate to an individual's ability to communicate and interact appropriately within the organization and overall amicability in a working environment. What is observable is that soft skills are more critical as the workforce globalizes, and communications skills become a prerequisite for competitiveness.

Mitigation to turnover is an effective onboarding process. New hires may experience turnover intentions within the first week of employment, dependent on first

impressions. Jeong and Oh (2017) reference a friend or mentor's assignment as one of the most effective ways to meet a new hire's immediate needs. Having an experienced coworker to guide the process, feelings of indifference moderate, and achieve an immediate greater sense of belonging.

Strategic talent management plays a significant role in the success of an organization today. The impact employee turnover has on competitive advantage can no longer be ignored as it relates to a shortage of skilled personnel (Van der Heijden et al., 2018). Key determinants that reduce turnover intentions are job satisfaction and organizational commitment (Sharma & Stol, 2020). Organizations that provide the workforce with a positive environment where employees feel like they influence goals are trusted and fostering a work-life balance can maintain a stable workforce. The key to a positive working environment is the leader-member relationship. Leaders that embrace the transformational leadership style provide the support and character that cultivates a positive environment. Members who perceive a positive, supportive environment are more committed to the organization and less likely to demonstrate turnover intention (Woodrow & Guest, 2020). If the onboarding process is effective, turnover intentions diminish, productivity and sustainability increase (Moon et al., 2021). A robust onboarding process demonstrates an organization's commitment to employees and welcoming culture.

### **Corporate Brand**

Corporate reputation is imperative to garnering and maintaining a capable workforce. Employer branding, similar to product branding, involves organizational

features that positively distinguish one employer from another (Liu et al., 2021). Similarly, an organization's distinctive products create a competitive edge; employer branding provides prospective candidates with intimate details, both intended and unintentional. HRM plays a pinnacle role in developing and projecting an organization's brand (Zhao & Detlor, 2021). As a strategic partner, HRM is responsible for recruiting qualified talent that meets strategic organizational needs.

The corporate brand evolves from a broad range of benefits and organizational cultures that attract and retain talent. The retention of talent maximizes a competitive advantage through increased productivity and workforce stability. A comprehensive approach to talent retention begins with an effective strategy that attracts talent and ends with an onboarding process that develops and supports a lasting, working relationship (Chapman, 2018). The first step in the process is the development of the corporate brand. Organizations must align recruitment and hiring strategies with the brand. Through a positive brand, organizations can demonstrate the value a prospective employee could gain by working for them. Preboarding allows organizations to convey their corporate brand to new hires before their first day. Conveying a positive image of a company reinforces the new-hires decision to accept employment (Hills, 2022). The final phase of the process involves onboarding the new employee (Chapman, 2018). Positive branding encompasses all employee benefits and future opportunities available with the organization. The onboarding process should give the employee the knowledge needed to perform and confidence that they are a welcome team member.

Prospective employees can explore organizations due to vast social media outlets. Organizations with mentorship programs as part of the more extensive onboarding process can better obtain and retain top talent in a competitive global market (Rich & Rich, 2021). By developing a comprehensive program that establishes the corporate brand of equitable treatment and individual growth, organizations can increase market share and retain talent (Li et al., 2022). The combination of shifting demographics and economic globalization are creating talent gaps and shortages. Although the current workforce comprises four generational cohorts, two of the most experienced groups, the traditionalist, and the baby boomers, have retired or are retiring (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018). Multiple cohorts, coupled with the increasing pressures of global migration and staffing multinational corporations, have placed further strain on the talent pool. Because of shifts in demographics and increased workforce mobility, organizations must develop a multicultural environment that acquires the level of talent needed to remain competitive on a global scale. According to Alon et al. (2018), businesses that foster high cultural intelligence can better recruit and retain a highly educated workforce, open to change, and possess a multicultural background. In addition to reduced turnover and increased employee commitment, organizations that embrace and cultivate diversity had a more reliable brand that contributes to sustained performance and market share (Sheppard, 2018). Organizations that embrace workforce diversity develop a competitive advantage relative to a convergence of knowledge and lived experiences that competitors may not realize.

With the prevalence of social media and other news outlets, the publication of missteps is almost instantaneous. Because there are so many social media outlets, and information is generally real-time, organizations should adopt corporate and employee branding as a strategic imperative (De Smet et al., 2021). Due to increased competition for qualified talent, organizations must demonstrate that they are brand ethical organizations with a positive work environment (Theurer et al., 2018). Not only does using social media as a means of recruitment broaden an organization's reach, but the corporate image communicated has the potential of attracting better-qualified candidates (Schaarschmidt et al., 2021). Organizations today should not underestimate the considerable influence social media has on their corporate brand and operation.

Whether a brand crisis results from an unintended oversight or unethical behavior, a timely and transparent response is crucial for an organization's existence. According to Zhao and Detlor (2021), a brand crisis occurs when an organization behaves poorly and receives publicity. With small local or regional organizations, negative publicity is devastating due to permanent damage. Larger organizations can recover that smaller organization's lack (Salvador & Ikeda, 2018). Portal et al. (2018) discussed brand anthropomorphism, which assigns human characteristics to inanimate objects. Brand anthropomorphism is where the consumer views the brand as being capable of emotional attachment and reverence. These deep feelings build on ethics and trust (Portal et al., 2018). With the prevalence of media outlets and immediate information gratification, the corporate brand is a crucial characteristic in recruiting top talent (Kitsios et al., 2020).

Organizations must take measures to ensure that their reputation reflects an organization to work for in a hyper-competitive talent market.

Organizations convey high ethical standards by developing and enacting strategies that place customer well-being first. Through ethical behavior and positive messaging, an organization is competitive by acquiring and retaining top talent and achieving a competitive advantage in its market segment (Yaseen et al., 2018). Linking social responsibility and change initiatives to core strategies create an environment that places people and community before profits and market share (Kitsios et al., 2020). People support socially responsible organizations, and socially responsible organizations develop a brand that creates customer loyalty. Social investments are noticed and contribute to sustainable growth through an increased customer base (Kitsios et al., 2020). The key to cultivating a positive social image is prioritizing ethical policies and behavioral processes during strategy development.

To attract and recruit a talented workforce, organizations must develop a brand that makes them attractive, where people want to work. With social and news media at the push of a button, corporations must be ever mindful of the image they cultivate and convey. As a method of developing a corporate brand, Portal et al. (2018) applied the concept of brand anthropomorphism. Anthropomorphism is the humanization of the corporate brand. The primary attributes are warmth, trust, and ethical. Although brand anthropomorphism ascribes to existing brands, it correspondingly applies to the corporate brand. Portal et al. developed a comparable four-stage model that organizations use to build a personal brand with the final stage of the particular brand encompassing loyalty,

reputation, and relationships. When considering the type of corporate brand that attracts talent, attributes such as trust, ethics, and genuineness creates an atmosphere that is humanized and supportive.

Positive, trusting relationships are vital in humanizing a brand. By creating a personal brand, organizations can convey to potential talent pools that they are an organization that is loyal and authentic in reputation (Portal et al., 2018). For a corporate brand to thrive, strong leadership and robust strategies and processes must be in place to compose an authentic brand. High involvement management practices provide the catalyst to merge agile methods that develop people, customer satisfaction, and marketshare (Jooss et al., 2019). For organizations to attract and retain talent, they must first build a reputation that makes people want to work there.

#### **Recruitment of Capable Talent**

Attracting capable talent is paramount to the operational success of an organization's strategy. Acquiring qualified talent has become a global challenge. As technology closes the gap between continents, prospective employees have increased options and greater mobility in their job search (Hanaysha et al., 2022). Key to talent management is SHRM that secure and develop a workforce that creates a competitive advantage (Raheem & Khan, 2019). Cai et al. (2021) identify how a well-developed mentorship program guides an organization when acquiring talented employees.

Turnover costs to organizations can be as high as \$11 billion annually; therefore, strategies must be in place to obtain and retain top talent (Deng et al., 2022). Well planned mentorship programs create a greater sense of belonging in a new employee,

increase skills, capacity, and performance. Because the multi-generational workforce presents unique challenges, employers should engage new hires and address the generational nuances. The new hire's enculturation is more productive by providing qualified mentors who possess experience and strategic insights. Additionally, individual development increases engagement, performance, and job satisfaction; all of which reduces turnover.

Organizations rely on people for their long-term success. High turnover rates or even the loss of a top performer can have a ripple effect throughout the company. Younas and Bari (2020), discussed several elements that encompass maximum talent retention. The implication is the war for talent involves a rigorous personnel strategy that has sound recruiting criteria that set the pace for the life of the individual's employment. Beyond selection, the most effective weapon in retaining talent is the careful management of top job candidates. According to Gregory et al. (2022), a performance management system extends beyond the traditional fee-for-service (high wages) approach necessary for retention. Companies with vital performance management programs employ several best practices, including aligning personnel requirements with corporate strategy, objective assessments in hiring, and job rotations that match their developmental goals and experiences with future needs (Allahar, 2018). The purpose is to retain talent through a targeted performance management package that is strategically aligned both individually and organizationally.

Like their operational counterparts, HRM must determine if their programs and processes are effective and value-added. Haseli et al. (2021), developed an approach that

incorporates workforce analytics and analytics vision and a strategic HRM perspective. Referred to as the agile development process (ADP), this process integrates HR processes with corporate strategy to create a continuous improvement cycle. By melding operational and HRM analysis with strategic goals and the organization's current state, decisions result from the findings. These data-driven decisions apply real-time data that provides responsiveness and flexibility to current issues and the added value of developing future needs assessments of the current market situation. A strategic HRM perspective is a framework that provides a sequential display of the data sets that contribute to the decision-making process (Haseli et al., 2021). A strategic HRM perspective is an analytic tool designed to give leaders a holistic view of strategic actions and the impact current initiatives have on operational goals. HRM should demonstrate how processes such as talent acquisition and retention create value and support the organization's competitive edge (Liu et al., 2021). HR analytics must be able to convey HRM's contribution to the bottom line. For instance, recruiting initiatives attract top tier performers, how onboarding programs retain them, and the cost savings associated with the applications.

### **Employee Engagement and SET**

Leader competencies have a substantial impact on employee performance.

Organizations can incur considerable administrative and operational costs related to employee turnover. Mäkikangas et al. (2021), show how organizations can reduce turnover intentions by reducing needless tasks and demonstrating enlightened leadership.

Appreciative leadership strengthens an employee's perception of their role in achieving

organizational goals and evaluating their performance. Because the leader values and recognizes employee contributions, the negative relationship between needless tasks and turnover is mitigated (Mäkikangas et al., 2021). Building business networks through trust and commitment contribute to employee engagement and organizational solvency (Nagpal, 2022). Engaged employees generally perform better due to a better understanding of roles and being valued, and an environment of mutual trust.

The SET is a theoretical explanation of how effective business relationships develop. The SET proposes relationships built on exchanges that benefit each party based on mutually agreed-upon terms (Jeong & Oh, 2017). Employees expect fair treatment and pay as employers expect dependability and honest work. Positive exchange relationships increase employee engagement and performance. According to Hosseini et al. (2022), engaged employees demonstrate higher commitment and motivation, translating to increased productivity. These characteristics are not limited to employee performance. At all levels, individuals who build relationships and networks through trust and commitment are more engaged, perform better, and are less likely to leave an organization (Nagpal, 2022). Successful implementation of strategy requires a top-down approach to development and understanding to create a climate of acceptance and insight (Alon et al., 2018). By developing shared values between all stakeholders, leadership can improve the success of change initiatives within organizations.

Additional contributors to higher work engagement and job performance are realized through the alignment of strategy and shared values. Muhlbacher and Bobel (2019) describe how shared values between stakeholders can improve change initiatives

within organizations. Transformational leadership is a catalyst for employee engagement and performance (Muhlbacher & Bobel, 2019). Leaders who advance a vision of shared corporate values enable the achievement of strategic objectives through clear communication and understanding. To illustrate the importance of employee engagement, Saad et al. (2018) stated that two primary factors contribute to employee engagement: employee personality attributes and communication. Often cited as a leading contributor to employee engagement, leadership style was not a significant contributor to this study. Although the transformational leadership was a moderating factor of employee engagement, the open communication aspect of leadership style was substantial.

Employee personality traits such as proactivity, adaptability, and conscientiousness, decisively correlate to employee engagement. Many factors can influence employee engagement, but ultimately, the responsibilities lie with the employee and leadership (Li et al., 2022). Employees who are resilient and demonstrate a sense of conscientiousness suffer less from illness, are more engaged, and add value to the team and the organization (Kasparkova et al., 2018; Saad et al., 2018). Attributes of transformational leadership, coupled with leader identity entrepreneurship, develop an environment of open communication, belonging, and mutual identity, all of which encourage increased employee engagement and performance (Saad et al., 2018). Strategic alliances are formed for many reasons but primarily to address competitive pressures caused by globalization, rapid advances in technology, and the increasing costs of doing business (Hanaysha et al., 2022). As a mechanism for reducing overhead and personnel

costs, alliances capture innovation through external methods and knowledge, and cost savings through reduced research and development and talent acquisition exist.

By combining strategies that address environmental, social, and economic forms of value, organizations achieve lasting value through economies of scale. Similarly, cost savings occur through better resource management by using sustainable energy methods and materials. This further increase social and environmental value through the responsible use of resources that reduce waste, pollutants, and impact. Corporations face considerable strategic and operational challenges resulting from the rapid expansion of a global economy. Global expansion places significant pressure on organizations to remain competitive and solvent. Personnel and operational needs should be synonymous with strategic development (He et al., 2020). Strategic development is accomplished by following business models that achieve sustainable market value through alliances that make economies of scale, reduce waste, and are socially responsible (Hanaysha et al., 2022). Through corporate governance practice, organizations can tailor their HC to create value and flexibility for all parties involved, and a competitive advantage in social capital investment for future needs (Verma et al., 2022). Moreover, the impact on economic rents over time is positive and sustainable due to the ability to react to market appropriately and operational fluctuations. The concept of monetary costs applies to specific HC applications unique to the functional setting relative to financial and operational theories.

## **Competitive Advantage and SET**

HRM plays a significant role in the achievement of organizational goals and strategy. As one of the organization's most critical assets, employees create a competitive advantage through intrinsic skills (Liu et al., 2021). Employees develop individual attitudes toward HRM and their role in the organizational environment. HR attributions are perceived policies and processes that employees judge positively or negatively (Skelton et al., 2020). Employee turnover poses a significant threat to an organization's competitive advantage due to the cost incurred during the hiring process (Wongsuwan & Na-Nan, 2022). In this study, I analyzed the relevance of HCT in the 21st century. HCT was developed as an economic theory to validate the relationship between an organization's investments in employee skills in its original context. The rationale of the approach is that the investment yielded current and future revenues under the premise that increased knowledge enhances performance. Capital, according to the theory, is the higher-order input that enables the production process. HC is the most relevant input to production because of its heterogeneity, and limited substitutability as the method has evolved.

HC is distinctive to the individual and is difficult to extract and emulate; therefore, it provides a competitive advantage to the possessor and the organization. Additionally, further investment through education and training increases the value of the HC and the likelihood of increased productivity. Likewise, the resource-based view progresses the impact rare and non-substitutable resources have on individual and organization competitive advantage (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018).

Goal enhancement should be a continuous process. Organizational leaders who continuously evaluate their strategic goals and processes to ensure they are keeping up with the market and global developments generally remain competitive and experience increased market share (Allahar, 2018). From the purview of HRM as a strategic partner, HR policies and initiatives synchronize organizational goals. Regular audits improve HR functions. In response to globalization and market pressures, organizations that continually evaluate and improve their processes are more resilient, demonstrate increased productivity, and have a more significant competitive advantage (Allahar, 2018). Additionally, HR audits help identify gaps in services and policies that can negatively affect strategic achievements (Navio-Marco et al., 2019). By identifying and mitigating gaps in strategy, HRM ensures that all activities integrate functions to achieve goals, market responsiveness, and sustainability.

Organization specific resources include technology, processes, and knowledge workers. The resource-based view identifies the resources organizations develop and obtain that create a competitive advantage, are challenging to develop, and specific to the organization (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018). According to Beltrán-Martín and Bou-Llusar (2018), bundling resources contributes to an organization's competitive advantage. A bundling strategy identifies and combines resources for an optimal outcome to address specific business needs. The dynamic-capability view furthers the resource-based view argument by taking the same bundled resources and capabilities and reconfiguring them to respond to volatility in the operational environment. According to Huang et al. (2018), dynamic capacity sustains competitive advantage through the ability

to deliver effective responses to emotional events. A survey questionnaire revealed which resources or bundles of resources contributed most to an organization's dynamic capability. Key capabilities encompassed *valuable*, *rare*, *inimitable*, *and non-substitutable* (*VRIN*). Rare and inimitable capabilities create the most competitive value for the organization that is specific to the organization.

Moving beyond industrial task orientation, the advent of globalization has created a technology-service oriented revolution that revolves around knowledge and knowledge workers. The growth in knowledge work compels organizations to acquire and develop employees capable of making, applying, and disseminating knowledge, often in ambiguous and dynamic environments (Kianto et al., 2019). HRM's must develop HR plans that synchronize evolving technical requirements with knowledge workers capable of developing solutions to current needs devoid of precedence (Akdere & Egan, 2020). Knowledge workers provide a competitive advantage through skills and strategically aligned initiatives that propel an organization into the knowledge age.

Synchronizing HR strategy with organizational strategy contributes to achievement of goals. Considering the prevalence of a diverse and mobile workforce, developmental methodologies should continue to meld strategic alignment between HR and organizational strategy (Allahar, 2018). As the 21st Century moves forward, the impact on HRM encompasses the employment of a talented, diverse workforce is vital to melding all other facets of HRM together to achieve and maintain a strategic partnership (Sagnak et al., 2019). Strategic talent management benefits are significant in a global

economy where rapid change is the norm. The strategic acquisition and enhancement of a workforce is key to long-term sustainability.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, I developed the business problem to explore successful onboarding strategies that reduce turnover and contribute to the employee and the organization's overall success. I reviewed the professional and academic literature to form the business problem, research question, the interview questions used as a primary data source, and the conceptual framework's selection. The topics analyzed in the literature review contributing to employment stability include talent management, core values, corporate brand, and attracting and retaining top talent.

Section 2 focuses on the researcher's responsibility to adhere to the tenets of the *Belmont Report* in protecting the rights and identity of the participants. Furthermore, Section 2 provides a detailed explanation of participant selection and the data collection, organization, and analysis methods to construct the findings. Section 3 is comprised of the study's results, application to professional practice, and the role played in generating social change.

## Section 2: The Project

In this section, I provide a detailed outline of how I conducted the study. I discuss my role and responsibilities as a researcher related to conducting ethical research. I also describe the research method and design that I used to best address the research problem. Additionally, I provide a detailed explanation of participant selection and protections and the methods used to collect and analyze the data. The discussion of methods includes an explanation of the procedures that I used to gather, organize, and process data appropriate for a generic qualitative study.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore the onboarding strategies that HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. The sample population consisted of six HR leaders who had successfully implemented onboarding strategies used to reduce employee turnover in midwestern light manufacturing companies. The implications for positive social change could include increased employee satisfaction and financial stability that could potentially improve the standards of living in midwestern communities.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

The researcher's role in data collection is central to a qualitative study (Mohajan, 2018). The researcher is the primary instrument for data collection in qualitative research (Clark & Veale, 2018). Researchers are responsible for controlling their bias when collecting data through interviews (Bearman, 2019). The researcher is the primary instrument for data collection in a generic qualitative study; therefore, critical steps must

be taken to ensure that the data interpretation and findings reflect what the participants provided (Yin, 2018). Unfounded assumptions are a source of bias caused by ambiguity or misinterpretation; therefore, the researcher must have no personal or professional relationship with the participants or organizations (Skukauskaite et al., 2022). Researchers mitigate harm and realize their study's full benefits by applying the principles set forth in the *Belmont Report* (Brothers et al., 2019).

In my role as the primary data collector, I treated the participants ethically and with respect. Additionally, I took measures to mitigate potential personal bias concerning my previous roles in leadership and HR policy development and implementation.

According to Johnson et al. (2020), the mitigation of bias begins with selecting the conceptual framework that aligns the study's purpose and research question. By choosing an appropriate conceptual framework, researchers mitigate bias through a thorough review of relevant literature and the use of well-supported concepts and practices (Johnson et al., 2020). Researcher bias is reduced when themes support distinct data sources and validated data (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021).

I used an audit trail to document and synchronize all study sections to address the research problem. The audit trail is a process of methodically documenting researcher thoughts and actions relative to all critical stages of study completion (Carcary, 2020). Audit trails are a process that researchers use to link data gathering and analysis and conclusions to the original research question to support and validate the study (Liu, 2022). Further, I used the audit trail as a reflective measure to mitigate any biases I may had regarding the subject matter.

Before and throughout a qualitative study process, researcher reflexivity provides multiple opportunities to seek clarification of ambiguities and ensure researcher bias remains separate from the study (Wadams & Park, 2018). Critical reflexivity is an iterative process where researchers reflect on their experiences relative to the study topic and the participants' lived experiences during the interview process (Wadams & Park, 2018). I maintained a reflective journal to document my thoughts and actions throughout the study to mitigate potential biases. I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to ensure that I asked each participant the same questions in the same manner to minimize interpretation errors and potential researcher bias. Researchers use interview protocols to strengthen consistency, inform participants of their right to terminate participation at any time, and to assure confidentiality.

#### **Participants**

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore successful onboarding strategies that HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. Qualitative researchers rely on participant interviews as a primary source of data; therefore, participant selection must align with the research question and purpose of the study (Blaikie, 2018). Following is an overview of the processes used for identifying and gaining access to qualified candidates for this study.

This study's eligible population was HR leaders who had successfully developed and implemented onboarding programs within a midwestern light manufacturing company to reduce employee turnover. The six HR leaders in the sample were responsible for the implementation of onboarding processes and procedures at their

companies. Participants should be chosen based on their direct knowledge and influence over the study field (Jashari & Kutllovci, 2020). Successful onboarding requires synchronizing organizational strategy, leadership guidance, and HR initiatives (Akdere & Egan, 2020). Therefore, it was essential to recruit participants who had directly engaged with all the onboarding process elements. A clear and accurate knowledge of the business problem further supports the study participants' qualifications (Smith, 2018). Identifying participant commonalities enables a researcher to form a suitable and homogeneous participant pool (Vasileiou et al., 2018).

I gained access to participants through internet searches, reviews of economic census data, and engagement with regional chambers of commerce. I sought out participants who possessed in-depth knowledge relative to their organizational role to increase data saturation and validity. Purposeful sampling involves the identification of participants who meet the criteria for participation and align with the purpose statement and research question (Morales Serazzi et al., 2021). To increase the data's richness, researchers use snowball sampling to take advantage of hidden populations within the organization to obtain supplemental interviews (Dosek, 2021).

Initial contact with the participant was through social media outlets and phone calls. I followed a telephone protocol (see Appendix B) to support consistency when describing my study. Following the initial contact, I emailed additional study information and the consent form to support understanding and transparency. Researchers who demonstrate a thorough understanding of the participants' role within the study convey credibility and transparency and are more likely to gain trust and complete the interview

(Alexander & Smith, 2019). I maintained contact with the participants throughout the process.

# **Research Method and Design**

Researchers use three primary methods in conducting research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Liu, 2022). Each research method has its merits depending on what the researcher is analyzing and the question to be answered. I used the generic qualitative design to explore the phenomena in question. The in-depth interviews that I conducted yielded a thorough understanding of strategies that lead to successful onboarding that reduces turnover.

#### **Research Method**

For this study, I applied the qualitative methodology to evaluate the effectiveness of various strategies used to accomplish successful onboarding. Researchers use the qualitative research method to develop the analysis of spoken words, observations, and documents (Liu, 2022). I provided qualitative evidence to support the type of HR strategy employed by the midwestern light manufacturing industry that may significantly affect the purpose and justification of the entire performance management process. Qualitative researchers explore certain phenomena that quantitative researchers may fail to capture. Researchers use the qualitative approach to answer why and how phenomena occur (e.g., successful strategies to reduce turnover; Scharp & Sanders, 2019). Therefore, I did not choose a statistical methodology to address the research question.

I selected the qualitative method over the quantitative and mixed methods approaches because qualitative findings build upon an exhaustive analysis of spoken

words, observations, and documents. Researchers use the quantitative method to statistically analyze relationships between numerical variables (Dawadi et al., 2021). Questionnaires and surveys are the primary sources of data for quantitative analysis. Once data are gathered, quantitative variables are assigned to evaluate the hypotheses and statistically answer the research question (Bastable et al., 2022). Business researchers use quantitative instruments to explain the intricate steps and processes that leaders employ to achieve successful onboarding strategies (Tobi & Kampen, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate for my study.

I did not select the mixed methods approach due to the quantitative component of the method. The mixed methods approach consists of elements of the qualitative and quantitative methods that researchers apply to confirm findings and answer their research questions (Tobi & Kampen, 2018). Researchers use the quantitative element of the mixed methods approach to apply statistical analysis to qualitative findings (Dawadi et al., 2021). Although statistical analysis can demonstrate the success of onboarding strategies through percentages, qualitative examination reveals the story behind the numbers. My study's data sources were semistructured interviews and document reviews; therefore, I obtained rich narratives to answer the research question. The quantitative element of the mixed method was not appropriate for answering this study's research question.

### **Research Design**

The research design for this study was a generic qualitative study. I selected the generic qualitative design to explore the elements of the phenomenon through diverse data sources in an original setting. In a generic qualitative design, specific criteria are

bound to the phenomena to accurately describe participant experiences and knowledge (Nagpal, 2022). The generic qualitative design was appropriate for this onboarding study because it allowed me to draw on the participants' lived experiences and knowledge of the phenomena leaders use to understand HR and personnel needs. Researchers conduct generic qualitative studies to examine a phenomenon through a broad range of opinions, reflections on current events, processes, and lived experiences (Jahja et al., 2021). The benefits of the generic qualitative study design include reliability and generalizability because breadth in understanding phenomena through multiple contexts enhances reliability (Bezyak et al., 2018). Primary sources of data for generic qualitative studies are semistructured interviews, field notes, and researcher observations (Akdere & Egan, 2020). The difference between the generic qualitative study and other qualitative designs lies in purpose and scope.

The case study design was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use the case study to examine a single, bounded phenomenon to address the research question (Yin, 2018). In contrast, researchers use generic qualitative studies to explore the phenomena through numerous in-depth interviews to answer the research question through the eyes of the participant (Britto et al., 2020). A model for most qualitative designs, generalization in a generic qualitative study enhances the transferability of results in different settings with similar effects and increased confidence (Carminati, 2018).

The generic design was the best fit for this study. Generic qualitative studies rely on in-depth interviews as a primary source of data (Jahja et al., 2021). I considered but did not choose the ethnographic design for this study. Researchers focus on discovering

meaning in the lives of groups of people and their cultures when using the ethnographic design (Fusch et al., 2018). Like other qualitative designs, researchers explore the participants' lived experiences through their eyes and natural settings; therefore, the time a researcher spends in the field can be quite significant and limit the use of the ethnographic design (Fusch et al., 2018). To address this study's research question, I chose the generic qualitative study design to capture individual participants' lived experiences through one-on-one interviews.

Phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Phenomenology is the study of human behavior based on individual experience and reaction to phenomena that characterize reality (Denney, 2020). As a qualitative approach, researchers seek to understand how the individual experiences a particular situation or phenomenon, therefore, phenomenology involves examining consciousness and the objects of direct experience (Nyumba et al., 2018).

I did not choose the narrative design for this study. Researchers using the narrative method rely on storytelling as a primary data source (Rosiek & Snyder, 2020). Unlike other qualitative methods that depend on semistructured questions to explore the participant's lived experience, the narrative researcher presents the question. The participant tells the story as they see and have lived it (Scheffelaar et al., 2021). Once the participant completes telling the story, the researcher interprets it (Scheffelaar et al., 2021). Data gathering and analysis for a narrative study differ from studies that feature other qualitative techniques because the researcher has an active role during both phases (Rosiek & Snyder, 2020). In contrast, researchers use the generic qualitative study design

to examine characteristic processes and events encountered by the participant (Dvorak et al., 2020).

I obtained data saturation by analyzing multiple sources of material. Data saturation occurs when no new information develops through further data collection (Vasileiou et al., 2018). Semistructured interviews were an essential source of data for this study. According to Blaikie (2018), a key consideration in achieving data saturation is the sample size. The sample size is adequate when no additional insights or codes emerge from further interviews (Saunders et al., 2018; Sebele-Mpofu, 2020). The sample size for data saturation in a generic qualitative study is adequate when it achieves the purpose and objectives of the research (Jahja et al., 2021). For this study, I interviewed six participants to achieve saturation.

#### **Ethical Research**

From an ethical standpoint, researchers use the informed consent to explain the study confirm the individual's right to decline or willingness to participate in the study (Zhang et al., 2019). According to Dankar et al. (2019), some study participants have associated informed consent with a rights waiver. Researchers are ethically and legally responsible for ensuring that participants are fully informed and understand their roles and rights (Ferretti et al., 2020). Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations provides regulatory enforcement to enact legal liabilities for violations of informed consent (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research [NCPHSBBR], 1979). The primary impetus of the code is to

eliminate any potential harm resulting from the study and ensure that informed consent is voluntary and expected outcomes justify the study.

Three primary principles of the *Belmont Report* are beneficence, justice, and respect for persons (NCPHSBBR, 1979). The purpose of the *Belmont Report* is to provide a rigid framework designed to ensure human participant studies are ethical, transparent, and of the participants free will (NCPHSBBR, 1979). The *Belmont Report* requires that participation be fully informed and voluntary, minimizing risks to the fullest extent possible, which resulted in the IRB process (NCPHSBBR, 1979). IRBs protect human subjects of clinical and social research from researcher and institutional biases and unsound research practices (Ferretti et al., 2020). To garner participant trust in the overall process, I provided an overview of the IRB process, the three primary elements of the *Belmont Report*, and a review of a statement of understanding that outlines the study's purpose. I emailed an informed consent memo to all participants for review and signature. An overview of the informed consent provisions demonstrates a commitment to confidentiality to the organization and participant (Salvador & Ikeda, 2018). I collected data after receiving IRB approval (no. 11-09-21-0759711) from Walden University.

As a means of verifying subject participation, I used the consent form to fully inform the study's purpose and the participant's role and ability to withdraw from the study. Researchers and scholars use the consent form to summarize the requirements that participation is voluntary, no harm will result, and minimal risk exists with participation (Brothers et al., 2019). Researchers have an ethical and legal responsibility to ensure that participants are fully informed and understand their role and rights (Adashi et al., 2018).

Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations provides regulatory enforcement to enact legal liabilities for violations of informed consent (NCPHSBBR, 1979). Participants are a primary source of data for a qualitative study; therefore, participant selection must align with the purpose of the study, the research question, and the research method and design.

Unlike quantitative studies, qualitative studies rely on one-on-one contact with participants. To ensure trust and transparency in the research process, qualitative researchers have a responsibility to protect all participants' confidence and identity (Mozersky et al., 2020). To protect the participants' identities, I assigned participants pseudonyms after the interview and member checking. I assigned participant pseudonyms; P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6. I stored digital data on a password protected USB stick and deleted all data from my computer. Additionally, I stored the USB stick and all documentation related to the study in a fireproof combination safe in my home for 5 years, at which time I will destroy all data. I have sole access to the safe.

According to Negrin et al. (2022), participants in qualitative studies are most concerned about their privacy and having to travel to a research site. I had mitigations in place to protect participants' identities, and there was no travel requirement for this study. I thanked the participants and offered a summary of the research findings upon completion and a copy of the completed research to illustrate their contribution to the body of knowledge.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

The researcher's role is central to data collection in a qualitative study, given that the researcher is the primary instrument for data collection (Mohajan, 2018). I was the

primary instrument for collecting data for the study. I conducted semistructured interviews to collect data and publicly available documents from light manufacturing websites to further enhance the data. Semistructured interviews provide a flexible data collection method that incorporates predetermined and follow-on questions (Bearman, 2019). One of the more significant challenges of one-on-one interviews of the participant emphasizes trust and assurance that their identities are not compromised (Salvador & Ikeda, 2018). I assigned pseudonyms for my participants after the interview and conducted member checking; without the participants' explicit knowledge, they did not know their assigned pseudonym. I used member checking to ensure that my interpretations of the participant responses were accurate and complete. Participants use member checking to correct errors, reflect on their answers, and expand on their responses (Livari, 2018).

Researchers and scholars use the interview protocol to support consistency and reliability through question homogeneity (Yeong et al., 2018). An interview protocol is a procedure or set of instructions that guide the interviewer through the interview process (Roberts, 2020). By following a structured interview protocol (see Appendix A), additional rigor strengthened my study and helped mitigate bias during data collection.

## **Data Collection Technique**

The primary source of data for this study was semistructured interviews. The use of semistructured interviews provide a flexible data collection method that incorporates predetermined and follow-on questions (Bearman, 2019). To mitigate the threat of COVID-19 and geographical constraints, I conducted all interviews by phone. With the

participant's consent, I recorded conversations on my phone and a back-up digital recorder to ensure a complete and accurate recording of the interview. I collected publicly available documents from comparable light manufacturing company websites to support the data collected through semistructured interviews and current literature. Researchers use publicly available documents as an advantage because it does not require consent from the participant to gain access to corporate documents. Additionally, the amount of publicly available documents is extensive due to online material. A key disadvantage of publicly available documents is their reliability and volume. The vast amounts of publicly available documents may need to be more accurate or too voluminous to use (Urbinati et al., 2019). To mitigate publicly available document reliability and scope issues, I selected midwestern light manufacturing companies with an A+ rating by the Better Business Bureau.

Member checking is the final step in the interview process. Member checking provides the participant with the opportunity to review and ensure that responses were correctly captured and to add or omit information (Motulsky, 2021). Interviews are a primary source of data collection for qualitative studies and are susceptible to bias by the researcher and participant (Taquette & Borges da Matta Souza, 2022). Member checking is a data validation method that contributes to the study's trustworthiness (Roberts, 2020). The participant can assess the accuracy of the written interpretation of the interviews, identify misperceptions, and make additional corrections or deletions (Hristov & Chirico, 2019). According to Braun and Clarke (2022), participants use member checking to

review researcher interpretations, to confirm their words, make clarifications, and confirm accuracy. I conducted member checking at the end of the interview process.

Participants review their responses to verify accuracy, provide clarification and make additions, or omit the content. Member checking can result in unexpected responses and issues where the participant might become distressed, unwilling to participate further, or exclusion from the study (Taquette & Borges da Matta Souza, 2022). Further, member checking allows the participant to review their responses for accuracy and completeness. A primary criticism of member checking is the synthesis of data before the respondent's review. The respondent may not recognize their responses if data is fully synthesized and compiled before examining their spoken words (Motulsky, 2021). Therefore, it is necessary to conduct member checking before full data synthesis to optimize the validation process. Once compiled, the participants had 1 week to review and ensure researcher interpretations of their responses were captured accurately and without bias or enhancements. If there is no response, the assumption was that the researcher's understanding of the interview is accurate, and the data is available for use in the study.

## **Data Organization Technique**

Data management in qualitative research is a process for systematizing, categorizing, and maintaining study documents to make them readily accessible for review and replication (Lin et al., 2020). I used NVivo for data organization and analysis. NVivo is computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) used for thematic analysis and coding in qualitative methods (Feng & Behar-Horenstein, 2019). NVivo has a data transference module that transcribes digitally recorded interviews into

Microsoft Word documents (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021). An additional benefit of NVivo is the organization and retrieval of data (Maher et al., 2018). Successful data retrieval strengthens dependability and validity by allowing other researchers to easily access the data and repeat a study (Adler, 2022). I used NVivo data analysis software to organize my data, develop themes, and coding.

Qualitative studies generate vast amounts of information from interviews, notes, and document reviews. I used audit trails and reflexivity to record and organize my data collection. Researchers use audit trails to review and document processes applied to build and link data to understand the findings if questions arise (Chong, 2019). Author reflexivity is a method for preserving data collection and integrity during a qualitative study (Wadams & Park, 2018). Researchers use a reflective approach to manage qualitative research data and systematize their data better. Author reflection during data collection and analysis enhances the audit trail's trustworthiness and mirrors the participants' reality (Maher et al., 2018). I documented my reflections in a journal and secured it with the rest of the study's data and documentation. I recorded my audit trail in Microsoft Excel and converted it to a PDF file upon completing the study. I transcribed interviews and created interview summaries for the participants' review. Next, I documented data to Microsoft Word and stored electronic files on a removable passwordprotected USB stick, and Google drives as a backup. Prior to destroying all data, I maintained all physical and electronic data related to the study in a fireproof combination safe in my home for 5 years.

## **Data Analysis**

Data analysis involves systematic processes used to reduce large volumes of data to obtain useful information designed to draw conclusions and answer questions (Mallette & Saldana, 2019). Yin (2018) proposed a 5-step analysis method for researchers to complete data analysis comprised of: (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. The origins of data for this study were semistructured interviews and publicly available documents. I chose thematic analysis to analyze data. Thematic analysis distinguishes themes within the various data sources used to analyze the data (Abdalla et al., 2018). As a method of improving the generic qualitative study's validity, thematic analysis reduces the vast amounts of data collected from multiple sources to consistent themes that support and address the research problem (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021). Thematic analysis discloses the significant patterns and facts of the examined data (Lester et al., 2020). Researchers mitigate bias through thematic analysis to achieve greater depth in data analysis and corroboration of themes when using multiple data sources (Abdalla et al., 2018). Thematic analysis reduces the risk of diminished study conclusions due to single data source limitations and produces more credible findings (Fusch et al., 2018). To strengthen data saturation, I used thematic analysis to condense data and identify the critical phenomenon that answers the problem and validate the study.

Qualitative data analysis is the process of gathering data from multiple sources and dissecting the data to discover descriptive categories of information that illuminate the phenomena (Mallette & Saldana, 2019). The plan was to organize all data by the six

participants individually. Effective data management from the beginning of collection produces efficiencies in data tracking, access, and auditability (Antonio et al., 2020). Each participant has individual electronic and standard file folders identified by the participant number. Once member checking was complete, I uploaded all documented interviews, notes, and data from my document reviews into NVivo. I used a chunking method to analyze data in manageable segments. Chunking is a data analysis method that reduces large volumes of data into manageable parts employed for thematic development (Roberts et al., 2019). Data segments include participant interviews and publicly available documents, relevant literature, and notes. I selected NVivo data analysis software to organize the data and develop codes and themes. Once themes had been coded and identified, I conducted a thorough analysis of each theme to validate its relationship to the data. I completed the presentation of findings after all themes were verified against the data.

Researchers use NVivo to accomplish thematic analysis and coding through a feature that identifies the most frequently used words in the data (Feng & Behar-Horenstein, 2019). An additional benefit of CAQDAS is the organization and retrievability of data. With NVivo, users classify, sort, and arrange information; examine relationships in the data; and combine analysis with linking, shaping, searching, and modeling (Elliott-Mainwaring, 2021).

I utilized a topical method to organize my literature review. With the topical approach method of literature review, researchers identify specific expressions within the literature that occur throughout data analysis associated with the research question (Lin et

al., 2020). Researchers can use the topical method to classify the correspondence of themes that support how effective onboarding strategies reduce turnover through employee integration (Wongsuwan & Na-Nan, 2022). Researchers link the conceptual framework and research question with current literature to support the study's findings (Mallette & Saldana, 2019). I continually compared emerging themes within my literature review and data with effective onboarding processes and SET from current relevant academic publications. Additionally, I continuously reviewed the literature to ensure no new themes develop concerning the conceptual framework and business problem.

# Reliability and Validity

A qualitative study's coherence and rigor rely on integrating all research elements toward answering the research question. A thorough review of relevant literature supports the study's coherence, academic rigor, and reliability (Levitt et al., 2021). Factors that demonstrate reliability and validity in qualitative studies are trustworthiness, dependability, confirmability, and transferability (Forero et al., 2018).

## Reliability

The dependability of a qualitative study relies on several factors. Qualitative reliability exists when findings are generalizable, replicable, and supported by recognized concepts (Adler, 2022). According to Mohajan (2018), dependability is when findings are generalizable and replicable across similar study fields. Generalizability in qualitative studies occurs when the results support or are supported by existing theoretical constructs that are recognizable and generally accepted (Smith, 2018). Second, a study's coherence

and rigor depend on all study elements' deliberate integration toward answering the research question.

Following data collection, I conducted member checking to strengthen dependability. Member checking supports a framework that aligns with the study's paradigmatic assumptions with participant responses (Skukauskaite et al., 2022). Participants reviewed the researcher's analysis of the interview to confirm the accuracy of their responses and make corrections as needed. Additionally, I enhanced the study's dependability through an interview protocol (see Appendix A) by consistently presenting the study and interview questions to mitigate bias. Thematic analysis distinguishes themes within the various data sources used to analyze the phenomena under review (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Researcher bias is mitigated by further developing multiple themes and their analysis in the data (Abdalla et al., 2018).

## Validity

I used member checking to ensure the participants' data was accurate and complete. Researchers use member checking to review the participants responses to their interview summaries for accuracy and completeness (Taquette & Borges da Matta Souza, 2022). According to Adler (2022), validity in a qualitative study exists when the researcher demonstrates a deep understanding of the phenomena; findings are truthful, accurate, and conceptually sound. Adler identified the various methods that researchers can use to enhance qualitative studies' validity. Member checking is one of several approaches to strengthen the validity of qualitative research. Through member checking, participants review their response summaries for accuracy and completeness (Taquette &

Borges da Matta Souza, 2022). Member checking is a primary method to strengthen a qualitative study's validity. Member checking and audit trails mitigate bias caused by researcher assumptions and increase the validity of the findings (Maher et al., 2018).

#### **Trustworthiness**

In support of qualitative rigor, comprehensive methods must be in place to validate the results' trustworthiness. Interviews are a primary source of data collection for generic qualitative studies and are subject to researcher and participant bias (Taquette & Borges da Matta Souza, 2022). Member checking is a data validation method where the participant can assess the accuracy of the written interpretation of the interviews, identify misperceptions, and make additions, corrections, or deletions (Skukauskaite et al., 2022). Participants ensured my interpretation of their responses was accurate and without bias or enhancements upon their review of the interview summaries.

## **Transferability**

Researchers use distinct methods to evaluate the legitimacy of a study.

Transferability is a method used to strengthen qualitative research (Haven & Van Grootel, 2019). Transferability exists when one study's results apply to similar studies with comparable findings (Forero et al., 2018). I enhanced transferability by clearly defining the participant eligibility and population criteria for context in future studies.

Although the author determines applicability, transferability indicates that a study finding is replicable and valid (Johnson et al., 2020). Throughout my study, processes and decision points were documented to demonstrate how the findings could apply to other situations and populations.

## Confirmability

Confirmability prevails when the results can be confirmed or corroborated by other researchers. Further, confirmability exists when the process details are specific, coherent, and consistent with the research question and design (Haven & Van Grootel, 2019). According to Scharp and Sanders (2019), researchers strengthen confirmability through detailed records that link data to findings. I achieved confirmability through member checking, author reflexivity, and audit trails.

#### **Data Saturation**

I used data saturation to ensure that I adequately addressed the research question. Data saturation exists in a qualitative study when no new themes are identified by collecting additional data and achieving replicability (Yin, 2018). Data saturation supports validity through the continuous examination of data for recurring themes. Themes derived from a wide range of data form a rich network of concepts that address the study's purpose and research question (Braun & Clarke, 2022). I reached data saturation by collecting and analyzing sufficient data to ensure my study supports external validity.

## **Transition and Summary**

In section 2, I provided a detailed outline of how I conducted the study. I supported ethical research by identifying my role as the researcher and mitigations taken to reduce assumptions and personal bias. I discussed my plan for applicant selection and eligibility to support the purpose of the study and address the overarching research question. Finally, I outlined the processes followed to gather, organize, and analyze data

to support proper theme development and coding that occurred, which were appropriate for a generic qualitative study.

In Section 3, I present my findings and demonstrate how this study contributes to the current body of knowledge, professional practice, and implications for future studies. Further, I disclosed how successful onboarding contributed to positive social change, in addition to actions HR leaders can take to implement the findings of this study. Finally, I provide personal reflections on completing this study, followed by concluding statements.

# Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore the onboarding strategies that HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. The sample population consisted of six HR leaders who had successfully implemented onboarding strategies to reduce employee turnover in midwestern light manufacturing companies. Due to COVID-19 restrictions and geographical constraints, I conducted phone interviews with six HR leaders responsible for developing and implementing their company's onboarding procedures and policies and used publicly available data to support triangulation.

The participants provided information on successful onboarding strategies they had used to reduce employee turnover. All participants indicated that a structured onboarding strategy gave the new hire a sense of belonging and reflected a company that was organized and professional. Additionally, employers with effective onboarding programs demonstrated reduced turnover in their companies. Onboarding strategies with leadership support rooted in the organizational culture emerged as the most successful in reducing employee turnover. Three themes emerged from the participants' responses: (a) develop onboarding strategies, (b) onboard capable talent, and (c) provide leadership support. I begin Section 3 by presenting the findings in more detail. Section 3 also includes discussion of the study's application to professional practice and implications for social change, recommendations for action and further research, reflections, and a conclusion to the study.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The central research question for this study was, What onboarding strategies do organizational HR leaders develop to reduce employee turnover because of ineffective onboarding strategies in the midwestern light manufacturing industry? To address the research question, I purposefully selected six HR leaders who were responsible for the recruitment and onboarding of new hires and were currently employed with a midwestern manufacturing company. Participants were assigned pseudonyms to safeguard their identity: P1, P2, P3, P4, P5, and P6. I reviewed data from employee manuals, policies, and public websites and used NVivo data analysis software to organize the data and develop codes and themes. Following data collection, I used member checking to ensure that my interpretation of the interview data was accurate. I provided each participant with a summary of the interview for review, additions, or deletions. All participants responded with no additional changes.

I chose SET as the conceptual framework for this study. I used SET as the theoretical lens to establish a relationship between social contracts and the employee's expectations that their positive efforts were recognized and reciprocated. Notably, employees who personally connect with a company during onboarding are less likely to experience turnover intentions within their first few years of employment (Tresna et al., 2019). I used SET to link the findings of this study to the main themes. Most business transactions are a social exchange where HC is an organization's lifeblood (Azeem et al., 2020). Core HR functions such as recruiting and reducing employee turnover are vital onboarding functions. After coding and analyzing all data, I identified three major themes

encompassing factors that contribute to successful onboarding strategies: onboarding strategies, onboard capable talent, and leadership support. Table 1 illustrates the total number of times each theme was mentioned in the participants' interview responses.

**Table 1**Frequency of Major Themes in Participant Responses

Theme	F	
Develop onboarding strategies	346	
Onboard capable talent	173	
Provide leadership support	98	

**Theme 1: Develop Onboarding Strategies** 

The first theme emerging from the data was that onboarding processes are an effective strategy for reducing turnover. Onboarding activities are a new hire's first operational encounter with a new organization and are the basis for the working relationship. Participants 1 through 6 recognized successful onboarding strategies as an integral component of reducing turnover. Additionally, current literature and data from publicly available documents support the benefits of developing and applying sound onboarding strategies to reduce turnover. P1 stated that in the past, her organization "did not do an excellent job of people understanding the why of what their role is and why they do the things that they do." According to P2,

The rest of the business cannot grow unless we hire enough people; those people have to stick around, so onboarding is huge. We have put a lot of emphasis on making sure people are ready. We want to take that step and make sure that people feel like the process is personalized and that has helped maintain the

people that we did hire. The fact that we have made it more personalized and that we have extended the hiring process has helped us to keep more of these people. Onboarding programs support effective integration of new hires. Participants 4, 5, and 6 indicated that effective onboarding processes support integration, enable new hires to perform their functions, and reduce turnover and employee costs. According to Hosseini et al. (2022), the image of an organization is visible at first contact and fully realized during the onboarding process; therefore, it is essential to foster a positive corporate distinctiveness. Productive onboarding strategies provide a comprehensive impression of what a company offers. P4 stated that their "organization uses an interview system that helps with onboarding and turnover because we ask our candidates questions specific to individual roles." The first contact with prospective employees is a critical step in

selection and retention. Additionally, P5 acknowledged,

You are looking at the whole onboarding process. We work with a lot of connectivity and touchpoints, starting from the first call, connect the call with a person who does the prescreening over the phone, then to the interview process, which if they move forward to the in-person with the managers or supervisors with which they are interviewing. Definitely, our strategic goals are the reduction of turnover.

Leaders use preboarding as a transition into onboarding. New hires receive beneficial information through preboarding before the first day of work, promoting employee engagement and continued interest (Hills, 2022). Effective preboarding is a prologue of the onboarding process that can increase the efficiency of the overall hiring

process. Organizations that implement preboarding processes to support contact and new hire excitement reduce turnover by 20% within the first 45 days of employment (Gopalan, 2022). Leaders use preboarding to provide essential information and processes contributing to successful onboarding.

P3 underscored the value their organization places on onboarding their new hires, stating "we use a multi-factor approach between the HR department and the hiring manager. We provide our new hires with all information they could want to know about the position prior to starting." Successful onboarding processes reduce turnover by providing direction and the tools needed for employee success (Bell, 2021). In the context of SET, positive social exchanges are essential for successful hiring processes. Positive interactions during hiring and onboarding support workplace integration through feelings of increased commitment and an enduring rapport (Dutta & Mishra, 2021). Leaders use SET to enhance onboarding strategies by underscoring the benefits of mutual reciprocity. During the analysis of the onboarding strategies theme, a remarkable subtheme emerged: organizational connection. The role of connection was a recurring subtheme when discussing the value employees create in the onboarding process.

## Organizational Connection

The first impressions of a company are important. Bell (2021) revealed that initial employee turnover intentions result from poor first impressions when starting a new position. Employee engagement contributes to increased productivity and a sense of belonging and accomplishment (Cohee, 2019). Positive employee attitudes are essential in reducing turnover. For a social exchange relationship to exist, the employee must

develop a strong bond with the organization often established during first contact (Tsachouridi & Nikandrou, 2020). P1 stated, "It is about being able to have people connect, connecting with the organization as a whole. The quicker they feel a part of that, of that organization, the more likely it is that they will adhere to the organization."

Organizational connection and relationship building is an integral part of the onboarding process. Organizational leaders who recognize employees for their value and contribution increases feelings of connection, loyalty, and reliability (Banerjee, 2019). In support, P2 stated,

In our onboarding questionnaire that we send to all of our, our new hires, we ask them things about their, personal life, what kind of things are they are into, are there things we need to know about their learning style that make them feel like they are part of a team.

Mentorship programs link onboarding processes and connections to the organization. P1, P5, and P6 assign mentors when the new hires arrive as part of the onboarding process. The mentor's purpose is to support full integration into the organization and give the new hire a contact with a broad range of experience in the company. According to Rich and Rich (2021), mentoring programs are most effective when processes connect company goals with the new employee's needs. Employee assessments increase the effectiveness of the process.

All participants agreed that onboarding starts with the initial contact of a prospective new hire and establishes the tone for an exchange relationship. Positive connections are the cornerstone of effective HR strategy and implementation (Chong,

2019). Positive social exchanges support a psychological bond that helps reduce turnover by building lasting relationships (Whitham, 2021). By applying SET principles, HR leaders define roles and expectations of the position and employee. Preboarding is where the hiring agent and applicant share information and discuss their mutual expectations of the position and employment action (Jeske & Olson, 2021). As the onboarding process develops, the goal is to ensure that a proper fit exists between parties that function as a catalyst for employment stability (Jeske & Olson, 2021). Social media allow prospective employees to research organizations to determine if a professional fit exists. According to Josan (2020), the experience and training employees gain within an organization are characteristic of the corporate brand and create a competitive advantage. Prospective new hires can determine an organization's credibility through social media; therefore, it is incumbent upon organizations to maintain a positive brand and demonstrate the benefits of employment (Chia et al., 2021). The next theme for discussion is onboarding capable talent.

## **Theme 2: Onboard Capable Talent**

The second theme developed through data collection was onboarding capable talent. The ability of an organization to attract capable talent, apply effective onboarding methods, and reduce turnover is the foundation of a stable workforce (Jeske & Olson, 2021). Attracting capable talent supports successful onboarding by ensuring that an employment candidate is capable of filling a position. P4 stated that reductions in turnover start with their interview process. They have a very in-depth, legally reliable interview system where they pose particular questions to their candidates focused on each

role. Aligning qualifications with roles creates a more seamless onboarding process contributing to reduced turnover. P5 acknowledged that it is increasingly challenging to recruit and retain capable talent. Their hiring practices include attracting new hires with diverse backgrounds interested in upward mobility and longevity with the organization. Skill alignment is one of the most critical factors that increase performance and achieve corporate goals (Datta et al., 2021). Additionally, data retrieved from publicly available documents and light manufacturing websites support maintaining a positive corporate brand. All companies reviewed were rated A+ by the Better Business Bureau and had received industry recognition for their corporate culture and social change initiatives.

HR leaders play a pivotal role in the solvency of their organization. HR leaders devise the means to respond to challenges prompted by globalization and labor transience by implementing dynamic talent management and onboarding practices (Saleh & Atan, 2021). Talent management begins with attracting capable new hires to perform specific functions. All participants emphasized the importance of having cohesive talent management processes that attract capable employees and enable adequate socialization within the corporate culture. Specifically, P2 stated that their biggest challenge was getting enough employees through their process and retaining them. Their hiring strategy was quantity over quality due to operational needs. P2 stated that their onboarding processes had successfully decreased turnover once they focused their hiring policy on more qualified candidates. HR personnel allocate considerable time and resources to finding and hiring candidates with the needed skill sets. Selective hiring enables managers to effectively onboard new hires to gain the most from the employment

investment (Datta et al., 2021). Correspondingly, P3 and P4 have processes to ensure that new hires perform in the position and roles described during the interview process and meet their expectations. The new hire should possess the skills needed to perform the job to achieve successful onboarding. Successful onboarding begins with hiring capable talent. Leaders use onboarding processes that include mentoring programs to help reduce turnover. P1 and P4 have mentoring programs that adapt to the new hire's position. Although the mentor has a broad knowledge of strategic goals, their role as a mentor is specific employee and position. Mentorship programs should focus on talent retention because new hires have less to lose by leaving the organization (Cai et al., 2021). Positive mentoring experiences are conducive to retaining capable talent. Employers accomplish positive social exchanges through effective recruitment and onboarding processes that support proper job fit, employee commitment, and performance (Kumar, 2022). P4 emphasized the positive company image's impact on attracting qualified talent by stating that they reinforce the company's current and future goals and the role of the new hire in achieving those goals throughout the hiring and onboarding process.

Operational leaders who support a positive corporate image are essential for successful employment processes and reductions in turnover. Advertising a positive corporate brand benefits the attraction and retention of highly qualified HC (Josan, 2020). Productive social exchanges reduce turnover and increase the employee's performance and willingness to support the organization (Tsachouridi & Nikandrou, 2020). P5 confirmed the importance of a positive brand stating, "we are a small community and the largest employer in the community with many family members, so we must have a good

brand for ourselves and treat our members the way we need to." Trustworthy corporate brands play a significant role in an organization's credibility and ability to attract and retain talent (Liu et al., 2021). Many organizations with a strong brand reputation understand how negative publicity can impact talent management and strive to appeal as a prospective employer.

Social media exposure can put organizations at risk by exposing a poor public image. By building a solid corporate culture, business leaders develop integrated strategies that define the company and its direction and provide a pathway for workforce achievement (Bell, 2021). According to the principles of SET, leaders who provide clear employee goals and expectations generally experience reduced turnover and develop a solid and committed workforce (Lartey, 2021). All participants acknowledged the importance of a positive corporate image and its impact on recruitment and reducing employee turnover. Additionally, all participants took active measures to create a corporate image that their employees embrace.

Leadership, people, and environmental strategies all help create a strong organizational brand. A positive employer image reinforces a highly qualified labor force and reduces turnover (Azeem et al., 2020). Onboarding capable talent aligns with SET through the strategic alignment and developmental phases of purposeful hiring. Leaders of competitive organizations prioritize retaining the right people through developmental investments and reflect a culture of mutual success (Tsachouridi & Nikandrou, 2020). Successful hiring practices that ensure a new hire fit support the development and reciprocity of relationships. Organizations that cultivate a positive image are supportive

and engage in mutually beneficial arrangements generally realize exceptional commitment and productivity from their employees (Cattermole, 2019). By conducting a 90-day survey, P3 ensures that the hiring strategy achieves all current agreements made during the hiring process. Upholding agreements is relevant to onboarding because the 90-day survey could assess the onboarding process's effectiveness. HR leaders could consider people with the skills and background that correspond to the position and support strategic goals (Ravi-Kumar, 2020). This social exchange supports a trusting environment where perceived and real promises succeed.

# Theme 3: Provide Leadership Support

The third theme was leadership support. The role leadership support plays in successful onboarding is paramount to a successful strategy. Reducing employee turnover is critical for the long-term survival of an organization and a key indicator of successful HR strategy (Piasecki, 2020). Employee turnover is often related to turbulence and employee disillusionment due to leadership behaviors or unfair treatment, real or conceived (Banerjee, 2019). Reciprocity is a critical element of SET (Blom et al., 2020). Business leaders who demonstrate innovation and forethought foster an environment that rewards similar employee behaviors (Mansoor et al., 2021). Data retrieved from publicly available documents and websites illustrate the benefits of leadership support for employment and onboarding processes. All companies reviewed provided their key leaders' names, pictures, and business contact information. Additionally, key leaders provided their biographies and personal corporate mission statements. Employees with access to key leaders are more engaged and less likely to leave the organization (Akdere

& Egan, 2020). P1 recounted a previous job experience where they felt engineering managers and production leaders in the facility were not incredibly supportive: "There was not 100% support across the facility. There is an element of maturity or emotional maturity, and you cannot teach. And that was a big element of it as well, that it was just a facility that did not have a great level of emotional maturity among its leaders and a lot of the plant workforce as well." The purpose of employee onboarding is to introduce the new employee to the functional culture of the organization and socialize them with the new environment (Gopalan, 2022). Leadership support is essential throughout the onboarding process. Operational leaders can undermine the effectiveness of onboarding by actively or passively exhibiting disregard for the process. Influential leaders clearly understand the organization's culture and the capacity to communicate values, provide a learning experience, and facilitate a positive onboarding experience (Hongal & Kinange, 2020). Management participation in mentoring programs demonstrated an interest in the development of the new hire. P3, P5, and P6 mentioned that supervisors and managers were mentors and developed a mentoring program. Leaders provide information and experience to new hires that clarify their role in achieving strategic level goals of the organization (Gisbert-Trejo et al., 2019). Mentorship programs require time and resources; therefore, organizations should consider leadership support. Leaders at all levels play a critical role in a new employee's successful onboarding and socialization.

Organizational support for onboarding is essential. Leadership commitment to onboarding initiatives acknowledges the need for onboarding and develops a strong team concept (Steinhoff, 2021). The participants reinforced the need for leadership support

with onboarding. P1 referred to the limited support received from management when implementing the company's onboarding strategy, stating that the technical and operational leaders needed vacancies filled immediately with little regard for the onboarding process. To effectively integrate new employees, HR leaders require the time and support of leadership to integrate the new hire fully (Dutta & Mishra, 2021). HR leaders emphasize turnover costs to gain management support for the time needed to onboard effectively. P5 provided an insightful example of a core HR responsibility. P5 stated that in a previous position, the organizational leadership only participated in onboarding once they realized the cost of \$15,000 per employee. Leadership support is essential because it is more cost-effective to retain a new hire versus losing productivity, customer service, and time (Peltokorpi et al., 2022).

Employee turnover can be costly to a company. HR managers must ensure that leaders at all levels understand employee turnover's financial and strategic impact on an organization (Hassler, 2020). P3 used a multi-factor approach between the HR department and the hiring manager on the ground:

We provide our new hires with every bit of information possible that they could want to know about the position prior to starting. We typically hand them over for true onboarding within their role with their facility manager or local manager. The onboarding is position specific and managed right at the manager level.

Leaders who support comprehensive onboarding strategies experience increased productivity and reduced labor costs, leading to increased market share (Hills, 2022).

According to P3, leadership involvement cultivates an immediate connection between

the new hire, the manager, and the company. Position-specific onboarding, combined with HR and leadership principles, provide a new hire with a greater breadth of knowledge and a sense of belonging (Bell, 2021). Employees reciprocate when the organization meets their exchange commitments and considers their well-being, increasing trust and attaining organizational goals (Dutta & Mishra, 2021). Employees are less likely to leave an organization that functions in their best interest and where leadership is capable and valued.

Scholars use SET to link leadership support and employee onboarding. Operational leaders play a significant role in providing a safe and supportive work environment and are responsible for developing and executing strategies (Cattermole, 2019). Some employees fulfill expectations through social exchanges with leadership teams. Social exchange relationships and emotional commitments exist when management provides the tools and environment needed to perform tasks while the employees reciprocate through strategic goal achievement (Lartey, 2021). All six participants recounted experiencing positive onboarding outcomes and reductions in turnover when leadership participated in the onboarding process. According to Bos Nehles and Meijerink (2018), leaders at every level represent the organizational culture, reflected by how well they work together. A climate of collaborative leadership is indicative of a positive work environment. Employees perceive that organizational leadership has their best interest in mind when supportive relationships exist at higher levels (Bos Nehles & Meijerink, 2018). Further, employees who perceive strong leadership cooperation may reciprocate by displaying similar attitudes and behaviors

(Piasecki, 2020). Work environments with a culture of cooperation are likely to be more productive and benefit from reduced turnover.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings of this study support professional HR practices by connecting contemporary literature to realistic examples of effective onboarding strategies that reduce turnover. The unemployment rate in the United States is under 4%, which indicates that the viable talent pool is just about exhausted (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, n.d.). Additionally, global demographic shifts and birth rate declines lead to talent gaps and shortages (Piasecki, 2020). Reducing turnover is an effective way for organizations to maintain a stable workforce, reduce personnel costs, and remain viable in competitive global markets. Attracting capable talent and socializing them to the corporate culture begins with onboarding processes that align new hires with strategic goals and the operational environment.

All participants agreed that effective onboarding processes reduced turnover and had successful programs in place to increase retention. Onboarding strategies are important because they represent a socialization process that clarifies roles and the company's culture and values (Bhakta & Medina, 2021). The participants of this study revealed that a strategic onboarding plan is a factor in ensuring that recently hired talent is integrated, productive, and willing to remain with the company. HR professionals who provide well-planned and comprehensive onboarding events experience less turnover, higher job satisfaction, and increased productivity (Kirchner & Stull, 2021). The

influence of social exchange and the quality of interactions underscore the importance of relationships in the socialization process (Ferm & Thaichon, 2021).

Effective onboarding serves the purpose of building a connection between the new hire and the organization. Employees develop a connection resulting from socialization processes that should begin at first contact. A thoroughly socialized employee links their expected employment gains to the company's norms, values, and goals (Peltokorpi et al., 2022). Establishing an early employee-organization connection contributes to successful onboarding and reduces turnover. Management is essential in successful onboarding (Jeske & Olson, 2021). New hires gain a sense of the corporate culture through contact with their management.

Business leaders with a broad knowledge of operational requirements positively contribute to employee onboarding, ensuring a person-organization fit, increasing job satisfaction, and reducing employee turnover (Skelton et al., 2020). Therefore, leadership support and participation at all levels plays a role in the employment and onboarding processes. Onboarding is a collaborative process that can last from days to several months; therefore, employers should maintain constant contact with new hires from the time they accept an offer and beyond the onboarding process (Peltokorpi et al., 2022). Onboarding processes that are flexible and account for the different learning styles of new hires and their positional needs contribute to better socialization and reductions in turnover.

The study participants disclosed that employees have more career choices, greater control over how and where they work, and the potential to negotiate higher

compensation packages. Organizational leaders reduce turnover and develop a committed workforce by making new employees immediately feel like team members during onboarding.

## **Implications for Social Change**

The social impact of employment stability is significant to individuals, organizations, and communities. Onboarding strategies contribute to a stable workforce and economy by building an immediate and lasting connection between employees and companies (Cattermole, 2019). Leaders who use effective onboarding facilitate processes that support a proper employee-position fit (Carlos & Muralles, 2022). According to Hills (2022), new hires with positive onboarding experiences demonstrate increased engagement, organizational commitment, and express fewer turnover intentions. Stable employment contributes to the overall well-being of individuals and their communities (Pacitti, 2021). Ineffective or nonexistent onboarding processes can result in high turnover, potentially lowering employee morale and levels of employee engagement (Jabutay & Rungruang, 2020). Disengaged employees are more likely to experience turnover intentions, which have cascading effects on all employees and working environments (Li et al., 2022). High employee turnover has more significant social consequences than market share; it profoundly affects the individual's quality of life (De Smet et al., 2021). Pervasive employee turnover results in periods of unemployment that harm an individual's emotional and financial well-being and can negatively characterize an individual as unemployable (Amiri, 2021). Positive onboarding experiences reduce turnover and contribute to employment stability.

The findings of this study emphasize the importance of an effective onboarding strategy. Successful onboarding contributes to decreased employee turnover, long-term loyalty and commitment, and better living standards (Hassler, 2020). Participant data highlighted the importance of low turnover and stable employment. For example, P5 noted their organization is the largest employer in a small community; therefore, they maintain a positive community image by reducing turnover through sound onboarding strategies. Organizations with limited turnover support sustained employment levels within a community. Reduced employee turnover can reduce mental health issues and criminal activity (Virgolino et al., 2022). Periods of unemployment, regardless of duration, can create the potential for harmful economic outcomes; therefore, companies that maintain steady workforces contribute to a higher standard of living for employees and their communities (Pacitti, 2021). Reduced turnover through effective onboarding could support positive economic and social outcomes.

# **Recommendations for Action**

In this study, I focused on onboarding strategies HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. The participants estimated that the cost of turnover per employee was about \$15,000. High turnover rates result in substantial costs, which increase with employee tenure. When companies lose employees with extensive time with the organization, they lose the expertise that employees possess. Employee turnover can create a significant talent gap and stress on remaining employees, causing major setbacks in operations (Pacitti, 2021). A discussion of the conclusions and steps for practical

actions follows. Three steps for practical actions arise from the conclusions: develop an onboarding plan, internal talent development, and a mentorship program.

# **Development of an Onboarding Plan**

A well-designed onboarding plan supports alignment between prospective new hires, the position, and the organization's culture. Organizations often confuse orientation with onboarding, a small segment of a complete onboarding process (Bhakta & Medina, 2021). Onboarding begins with the first contact making an offer and well beyond the new-hires first few weeks or months of employment (Shufutinsky & Cox, 2019). Some HR leaders use structured onboarding plans to combine all aspects of orientation, training, and socialization to clarify the environmental and cultural norms of the company (Bhakta & Medina, 2021). A multifaceted onboarding plan reinforces employee socialization and connection with the organization and supports reduced (Jabutay & Rungruang, 2020).

## **Internal Talent Development**

Organizations should have a plan to identify future talent early in a new employee's tenure. During onboarding, one of the earliest steps to develop potential talent within a company is to assess employees thoroughly for future grooming by closely observing behaviors, strengths, and weaknesses (Shufutinsky & Cox, 2019). Onboarding processes that reveal growth potential influence new hire performance and stability (Hills, 2022). Cultivating career paths that align individual strengths and interests with business needs develops talent to the fullest potential (Umans et al., 2021). Identifying future talent during onboarding provides employers with a systematic method of

recognizing future leaders based on skill sets and specific criteria (Jooss et al., 2019). Employees who see future growth opportunities with a company are less likely to experience turnover intentions and are more productive.

## **Mentorship Programs**

Mentoring programs contribute to successful onboarding by providing existing employees with a meaningful avenue of interaction with new hires. Mentoring serves a dual purpose in developing talent and reducing turnover by allowing existing employees to demonstrate their expertise and knowledge of the company (Deng et al., 2022). Mentorship programs demonstrate leader support for new and existing employees through leader involvement in the onboarding and mentoring process. Mentorship programs allow management to identify future talent for advancements and leadership roles (Rich & Rich, 2021). For the new employee, mentors offer a working overview of the culture. Formal or informal mentoring programs work best when a positive match between the mentor and the mentee exists (Cai et al., 2021). Turnover in organizations can cost employers millions of dollars annually in replacement costs. Mentorship programs prove to reduce turnover intentions by demonstrating a genuine interest in the employee and a willingness to invest limited time and resources in their development (Deng et al., 2022). Therefore, mentees must access their mentors and build relationships at various organizational levels.

Transparent processes and communication provide constructive and essential interactions with existing employees during the onboarding process (Shufutinsky & Cox, 2019). Onboarding is an opportunity to highlight the benefits of working for a company

and reinforce the new hire's decision (Umans et al., 2021). Onboarding is not a universal process that aligns the newcomer with the organization, but a process designed to develop a lasting relationship between the new hire and the organization.

The results of this study are relevant for all organizational stakeholders because they reveal how effective implementation of onboarding processes reduces employee turnover. While I focused on midwestern light manufacturing, the findings could be helpful to leaders across all sectors seeking strategies to reduce employee turnover. The study is available for publication in the ProQuest dissertation database journals, and I participated as a poster presenter with Walden University. I provided all participants with a summary of the findings and will provide a link to the final study when published.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

In this generic qualitative study, I explored the onboarding strategies that organizational HR leaders use to reduce employee turnover. I conducted semistructured interviews with six participants as the primary data source and reviewed publicly available documents from suitable midwestern light manufacturing companies. The results of this study are relevant to HR and corporate leaders because it provides compelling outcomes informed by effective onboarding methods. The shortcomings of this study provide researchers with opportunities for further research.

I limited my study to six participants from midwestern light manufacturing companies covering my regional proximity, prevailing industries, and employment background. The purpose of this study was to determine how effective onboarding reduces turnover. Therefore, future researchers could reproduce this study in different

business sectors and geographical locations, benefit from the findings, and advance the operational and academic body of knowledge. Additionally, a researcher could increase the size and diversity of the participant pool and include focus groups and document reviews in future qualitative studies to achieve data saturation and increase the scope of the study (Chun Tie et al., 2019). The qualitative researcher benefits from studying effective onboarding's influence on reducing employee turnover.

Finally, I recommend the quantitative design for future studies. Researchers apply statistical analysis to determine how viewpoints and variables impact a phenomenon (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Additionally, researchers could use descriptive statistics to examine the relationship between onboarding and other variables contributing to employee turnover, such as leadership style, job satisfaction, and organizational culture (Fischer, 2021). A robust sample garnered through surveys and interviews provides a greater understanding and generalizability of findings. Future researchers conducting studies with larger populations and mixed method designs may provide leaders with new insights that could help reduce employee turnover.

#### Reflections

I have always felt that much of what we do should be more significant than ourselves, and what better way to contribute than to expand my possibilities by earning a DBA degree. I look forward to the opportunities earning a doctoral degree can provide me as a scholar and practitioner. Completing this program has been one of the most challenging ventures ever. Throughout this process, I felt like I was on an emotional rollercoaster where every success met with two frustrations. Gratefully, I had the

guidance of my chair, committee, and the unwavering support of my family and friends.

Looking back, I cannot believe the sheer amount of time this process took to complete,
and the time taken from my family life.

I chose the study of onboarding processes and HR practices due to my work experiences and interest. I have accepted employment in my professional career, where the first day left me regretful that I took the position. With these experiences in mind, I made sure through self-reflection, close adherence to IRB stipulations, and my interview protocol that I mitigated preconceived notions of what my participants should tell me. One of the biggest challenges of completing this study was recruiting research participants following the COVID-19 restrictions. Company leaders were recovering from operational pauses and high turnover. I understood the challenges organizations were facing but was surprised that the HR leaders were unwilling to benefit from participation. With minor changes to my study, I recruited enough participants to complete data collection and analysis.

I am elated to complete this doctoral program; I will use my experience and this accomplishment to better myself, my family, and my community. The social change element of this program goes beyond expanding individual and corporate wealth; therefore, the best interests of all stakeholders should be a consideration during periods of change and process improvement. Completing this program has been a fantastic experience, and I am glad it is over.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative generic study was to explore strategies HR leaders used to implement effective onboarding programs that reduce employee turnover. The six participants were HR leaders from six different midwestern states who shared the onboarding approaches they used to reduce turnover in their organizations. During data analysis, I identified three primary themes that addressed the research question and aligned with current literature on employee turnover: (a) develop onboarding strategies, (b) onboard capable talent, and (c) leadership support. The study findings and literature review suggested that successful onboarding plans reduce employee turnover.

The lack of effective onboarding programs can cost organizations as much as \$11 billion annually in lost HC investment and productivity (Deng et al., 2022). HR leaders who plan and develop strong onboarding processes effectively decrease employee turnover. According to Badshah and Bulut (2020), 70% of employees are more likely to stay with a company beyond 3 years if they experience positive onboarding processes. One recommendation for designing effective onboarding programs is to include participation from key stakeholders with technical expertise that can contribute to the onboarding process that supports proficiency and effectiveness. Another effective approach to onboarding is to assign new hire mentors to orient the employee to the new environment to support enculturation.

The strategies and themes within this study could provide HR leaders with new onboarding strategies to reduce turnover. Onboarding programs' impact on the reduction in turnover has limited evidence in the literature. However, the general principles

underlying onboarding programs are consistent with research on socialization, which reduces turnover and increases talent retention. Although I address onboarding processes that contribute to stability in the workforce, I observed that the social implications of onboarding extend beyond the profitability of an organization. The individual turnover costs are lost wages, breaks in employment, and the threat of financial damage.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulations as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66–98. http://dx.doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Acharya, S., & Wee, S. L. (2020). Rational inattention in hiring decisions. *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 12(1), 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1257/mac.20180390
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The *Belmont Report* at 40:

  Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345–1348.

  https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580
- Adler, R. H. (2022). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 38(4), 598–602. https://doi.org/10.1177/08903344221116620
- Akdere, M., & Egan, T. (2020). Transformational leadership and human resource development: Linking employee learning, job satisfaction, and organizational performance. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, *31*(4), 393–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21404
- Alexander, B. N., & Smith, A. D. (2019). Organizational access in qualitative research.

  \*Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management, 14(2), 172–193.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-10-2017-1574

- Allahar, H. (2018). Strategic human resource management practices in a developing country professional services firm. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 10(4), 30–49. https://ijibm.elitehall.com
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 15(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Alon, I., Boulanger, M., Elston, J. A., Galanaki, E., Martínez de Ibarreta, C., Meyers, J., & Vélez-Calle, A. (2018). Business cultural intelligence quotient: A five-country study. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 60(3), 237–250. https://doi.org/10.1002/tie.21826
- Amiri, S. (2021). Unemployment associated with major depression disorder and depressive symptoms: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 28(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/10803548.2021.1954793
- Antonio, M. G., Schick-Makaroff, K., Doiron, J. M., Sheilds, L., White, L., & Molzahn, A. (2020). Qualitative data management and analysis within a data repository.

  Western Journal of Nursing Research, 42(8), 640–648.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945919881706
- Asbari, M., Purwanto, A., Ong, F., Mustikasiwi, A., Maesaroh, S., Mustofa, M., & Andriyani, Y. (2020). Impact of hard skills, soft skills, and organizational culture: Lecturer innovation competencies as mediating. *Journal of Education*,

- *Psychology and Counseling*, 2(1), 101–121. https://ummaspul.e-journal.id/Edupsycouns/article/view/419
- Azeem, M. U., Bajwa, S. U., Shahzad, K., & Aslam, H. (2020). Psychological contract violation and turnover intention: The role of job dissatisfaction and work disengagement. *Employee Relations*, 42(6), 1291–1308. https://doi.org/10.1108/ER-09-2019-0372
- Badshah, W., & Bulut, M. (2020). Onboarding—the strategic tool of corporate governance for organizational growth. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, *59*(3), 319–326. http://www.europeanjournalofsocialsciences.com/
- Banerjee, A. (2019). Failure of employee retention and its consequences on organization through content analysis. *International Journal of Research-Granthaalayah*, 7(3), 200–207. https://doi.org/10.29121/granthaalayah.v7.i3.2019.960
- Bastable, E., McIntosh, K., Falcon, S. F., & Meng, P. (2022). Exploring educators' commitment to racial equity in school discipline practice: A qualitative study of critical incidents. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 32(2), 125–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2021.1889194
- Batistic, S. (2018). Looking beyond-socialization tactics: The role of human resource systems in the socialization process. *Human Resource Management Review*, 28(2), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.06.004
- Bearman, M. (2019). Focus on methodology: Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semi-structured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Education*, 20(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v20i3.387

- Becker, K., & Bishb, A. (2019). A framework for understanding the role of unlearning in onboarding. *Human Resource Management Review*, *32*(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2019.100730
- Belizon, M. J., & Kieran, S. (2021). Human resources analytics: A legitimacy process. *Human Resource Management Journal*, *31*(3), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12417
- Bell, T. (2021). Onboarding: Improving employer and employee relations. *Certified Public Manager Applied Research*, 2(1), 1–9. https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/cpmar/vol2/iss1/1/
- Beltrán-Martín, I., & Bou-Llusar, J. C. (2018). Examining the intermediate role of employee abilities, motivation, and opportunities to participate in the relationship between HR bundles and employee performance. *Business Research Quarterly*, 21(2), 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2018.02.001
- Bezyak, J. L., Jia-Rung, W., Xiangli, C., Tansey, T., Umucu, E., Lee, B., Iwanaga, K., & Fong, C. (2018). Strategies for recruiting, engaging, and retaining members in a community of practice for disability employment: A qualitative content analysis. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 84(2), 40–47. https://www.nationalrehab.org/journal-of-rehabilitation
- Bhakta, K., & Medina, M. S. (2021). Preboarding, orientation, and onboarding of new pharmacy faculty during a global pandemic. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 85(3), 169–172. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe8510

- Bibi, P., Ahmad, A., & Majid, A. H. A. (2018). The impact of training and development and supervisor support on employees retention in academic institutions: The moderating role of work environment. *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business*, 20(1), 113–131. http://journal.ugm.ac.id/gamaijb
- Blaikie, N. (2018). Confounding issues related to determining sample size in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 635–641. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454644
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Justice in social exchange. *Sociological Inquiry*, *34*(2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.1964.tb00583.x
- Blom, R., Kruyen, P. M., Van der Heijden, B. I., & Van Thiel, S. (2020). One HRM fits all? A meta-analysis of the effects of HRM practices in the public, semipublic, and private sector. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 40(1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X18773492
- Bos Nehles, A. C., & Meijerink, J. G. (2018). HRM implementation by multiple HRM actors: A social exchange perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(22), 3068–3092. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2018.1443958
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Conceptual and design thinking for thematic analysis.

  \*Qualitative Psychology, 9(1), 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000196
- Britto, R., Smite, D., Damm, L. O., & Börstler, J. (2020). Evaluating and strategizing the onboarding of software developers in large-scale globally distributed projects.

- Journal of Systems and Software, 169, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2020.110699
- Brothers, K. B., Rivera, S. M., Cadigan, R. J., Sharp, R. R., & Goldenberg, A. J. (2019).

  A Belmont reboot: Building a normative foundation for human research in the

  21st century. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 47*(1), 165–172.

  http://doi.org/10.1177/1073110519840497
- Burns, S. (2018). Human capital and its structure. *Journal of Private Enterprise*, *33*(2), 33–51. http://journal.apee.org/index.php/Main\_Page
- Byford, M., Watkins, M. D., & Triantogiannis, L. (2017). Onboarding is not enough.

  \*Harvard Business Review, 95(3), 78–86. https://hbr.org/2017/05/onboarding-isnt-enough
- Cai, D., Liu, S., Liu, J., Yao, L., & Jia, X. (2021). Mentoring and newcomer well-being:

  A socialization resources perspective. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *36*(3), 285–298. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-08-2019-0485
- Caldwell, C., & Peters, R. (2018). New employee onboarding–psychological contracts and ethical perspectives. *Journal of Management Development*, *37*(1), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-10-2016-0202
- Cappelli, P., Conyon, M., & Almeda, D. (2019). Social exchange and the effects of employee stock options. *ILR Review*, 73(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793919827934

- Carcary, M. (2020). The research audit trail: Methodological guidance for application in practice. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 18(2), 166–177. https://doi.org/10.34190/JBRM.18.2.008
- Carlos, A. R., & Muralles, D. C. (2022). Onboarding in the age of COVID-19. *IFLA Journal*, 48(1), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/03400352211035413
- Carminati, L. (2018). Generalizability in qualitative research: A tale of two traditions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(13), 2094–2101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318788379
- Cattermole, G. (2019). Developing the employee lifecycle to keep top talent. *Strategic HR Review*, 18(6), 258–262. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-05-2019-0042
- Cesario, F., & Chambel, M. J. (2019). Onboarding new employees: A three-component perspective of welcoming. *International Journal of Organizational*Analysis, 27(5), 1465–1479. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-08-2018-1517
- Chapman, J. (2018). Gaining a talent advantage: How to win candidates from the interview through onboarding and keep them for years. *Strategic Finance*, 100(3), 44–52. https://sfmagazine.com/post-entry/september-2018-gaining-a-talent-advantage/
- Chia, K. C., Hsu, C. C., Lin, L. T., & Tseng, H. H. (2021). The identification of ideal social media influencers: Integrating the social capital, social exchange, and social learning theories. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 22(1), 4–21. http://www.jecr.org/

- Chillakuri, B. (2020). Understanding generation z expectations for effective onboarding.

  \*\*Journal of Organizational Change Management, 33(7), 1277–1296.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-02-2020-0058
- Chong, S. L. (2019). Making critical connections: How to apply the analytic guiding frame (AGF) and overall guiding frame (OGF) in qualitative data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(2), 298–306. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss2/8
- Chun Tie, Y., Birks, M., & Francis, K. (2019). Grounded theory research: A design framework for novice researchers. *SAGE Open Medicine*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050312118822927
- Clark, K. R., & Veale, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482–485. http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/89/5/482CT.full
- Cohee, G. L. (2019). Corporate downsizing. *Organizational Dynamics*, 48(1), 38–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2018.01.004
- Dankar, F. K., Gergely, M., & Dankar, S. K. (2019). Informed consent in biomedical research. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, *32*(11), 463–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2019.03.010
- Datta, S., Budhwar, P., Agarwal, U. A., & Bhargava, S. (2021). Impact of HRM practices on innovative behavior: Mediating role of talent development climate in Indian firms. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 32(18), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1973063

- Dawadi, S., Shrestha, S., & Giri, R. A. (2021). Mixed-methods research: A discussion on its types, challenges, and criticisms. *Journal of Practical Studies in Education*, 2(2), 25–36. https://doi.org/10.46809/jpse.v2i2.20
- Dayarathna, D. K., Dowling, P. J., & Bartram, T. (2019). The effect of high-performance work system strength on organizational effectiveness. *Review of International Business and Strategy*, 26(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1108/RIBS-06-2019-0085
- DeBode, J. D., Mossholder, K. W., & Walker, A. G. (2017). Fulfilling employees' psychological contracts: Organizational socialization's role. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(1), 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-02-2015-0014
- Deng, C., Gulseren, D. B., & Turner, N. (2022). How to match mentors and protégés for successful mentorship programs: A review of the evidence and recommendations for practitioners. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 43(3), 386– 403. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2021-0032
- Denney, V. (2020). Exploring the upside of risk in project management: A phenomenological inquiry. *Journal of Modern Project Management*, 8(1), 278–298. https://journalmodernpm.com/index.php/jmpm
- De Smet, A., Dowling, B., Mugayar-Baldocchi, M., & Schaninger, B. (2021). Great attrition or great attraction? The choice is yours. *The McKinsey Quarterly*, 4(1), 1–6. https://www.mckinsey.com/quarterly

- Dosek, T. (2021). Snowball sampling and Facebook: How social media can help access hard-to-reach populations. *Political Science & Politics*, *54*(4), 651–655. https://doi.org/10.1017/S104909652100041X
- Dutta, D., & Mishra, S. K. (2021). Chatting with the CEO's virtual assistant: Impact on climate for trust, fairness, employee satisfaction, and engagement. *AIS Transactions on Human-Computer Interaction*, *13*(4), 431–452. https://doi.org/10.17705/1thci.00156
- Dvorak, Z., Rehak, D., David, A., & Cekerevac, Z. (2020). Qualitative approach to environmental risk assessment in transport. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(15), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17155494
- Elliott-Mainwaring, H. (2021). Exploring using NVivo software to facilitate inductive coding for thematic narrative synthesis. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 29(11), 628–632. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjom.2021.29.11.628
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (Write a Scientific Paper): Sampling in qualitative research. *Early Human Development*, *133*(16), 69–71. https://www.journals.elsevier.com/early-human-development
- Feng, X., & Behar-Horenstein, L. (2019). Maximizing NVivo utilities to analyze openended responses. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 563–571. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol24/iss3/11/
- Ferm, L. E. C., & Thaichon, P. (2021). Customer pre-participatory social media drivers and their influence on attitudinal loyalty within the retail banking industry: A

- multi-group analysis utilizing social exchange theory. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 61, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102584
- Ferretti, A., Ienca, M., Hurst, S., & Vayena, E. (2020). Big data, biomedical research, and ethics review: New challenges for IRBs. *Ethics & human research*, 42(5), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1002/eahr.500065
- Fischer, C. (2021). Real-effort survey designs: Open-ended questions to overcome the challenge of measuring behavior in surveys. *Journal of Trial & Error*, 2(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.36850/e5
- Flaherty, T., Domegan, C., Duane, S., Brychkov, D., & Anand, M. (2020). Systems social marketing and macro-social marketing: A systematic review. *Social Marketing Quarterly*, 26(2), 146–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524500420925188
- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., De Costa, J., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., & Aboagye-Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four-dimension criteria to assess rigor of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2915-2
- Freeman, R. B. (1978). Job satisfaction as an economic variable. *American Economic Review*, 68(2), 135–141. https://www.aeaweb.org/journals/aer
- Friedman, J. L., & Neutze, D. (2020). The financial cost of medical assistant turnover in an academic family medicine center. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 33(3), 426–430. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2020.03.190119

- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Gervasi, D., Faldetta, G., Pellegrini, M. M., & Maley, J. (2022). Reciprocity in organizational behavior studies: A systematic literature review of contents, types, and directions. *European Management Journal*, 40(3), 441–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2021.07.008
- Gisbert-Trejo, N., Landeta, J., Albizu, E., & Fernández-Ferrín, P. (2019). Determining effective mentor characteristics in inter-organizational mentoring for managers:

  An approach based on academics' and practitioners' perspectives. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 51(2), 85–103. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2018-0051
- Gooderham, P., Fenton-O'Creevy, M., Croucher, R., & Brookes, M. (2018). A multilevel analysis of the use of individual pay-for-performance systems. *Journal of Management*, 44(4), 1479–1504. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315610634
- Gopalan, S. (2022). The importance of first impressions in a hybrid working era.

  Strategic HR Review, 21(5), 149–152. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-05-2022-0028
- Gregory, P., Strode, D. E., Sharp, H., & Barroca, L. (2022). An onboarding model for integrating newcomers into agile project teams. *Information and Software Technology*, 143, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infsof.2021.106792
- Guest, D. E. (2017). Human resource management and employee well-being: Towards a new analytic framework. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 27(1), 22–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/1748-8583.12139

- Habibi, M., Kermanshachi, S., & Rouhanizadeh, B. (2019). Identifying and measuring engineering, procurement, and construction (EPC) key performance Indicators and management strategies. *Infrastructures*, 4(2), 1–19. http://doi.org/10.3390/infrastructures4020014
- Hanaysha, J. R., Al-Shaikh, M. E., Joghee, S., & Alzoubi, H. M. (2022). Impact of innovation capabilities on business sustainability in small and medium enterprises. *FIIB Business Review*, 11(1), 67–78.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/23197145211042232
- Haseli, G., Sheikh, R., Wang, J., Tomaskova, H., & Tirkolaee, E. B. (2021). A novel approach for group decision making based on the best-worst method (G-bwm): Application to supply chain management. *Mathematics*, 9(16), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/math9161881
- Hassler, M. (2020). Four steps for HR to support CEOs in leading large-scale shifts in corporate strategy. *Strategic HR Review*, *19*(4), 195–196. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-08-2020-185
- Haven, L. T., & Van Grootel, L. (2019). Preregistering qualitative research.

  \*\*Accountability in Research, 26(3), 229–244.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1580147
- He, H., Gao, J., & Yan, L. (2020). Understanding career advancement of newcomers from perspective of organizational socialization: A moderated mediating model. *Chinese Management Studies*, 14(3), 789–809. https://doi.org/10.1108/CMS-03-2019-0116

- Hennink, M., & Kaiser, B. N. (2022). Sample sizes for saturation in qualitative research:

  A systematic review of empirical tests. *Social Science & Medicine*, 292, 1–10.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.11452
- Hills, L. (2022). Creating an exceptional onboarding experience for your new employees. *The Journal of Medical Practice Management: MPM*, *37*(6), 278–283. https://www.physicianleaders.org/
- Hirt, J., Nordhausen, T., Appenzeller-Herzog, C., & Ewald, H. (2020). Using citation tracking for systematic literature searching-study protocol for a scoping review of methodological studies and an expert survey. F1000Research, 9(1386), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.27337.1
- Hommey, C., Ma, J., Asamani, L., & Hanson, P. (2020). The moderating effect of acculturation strategies on the relationship between newcomer adjustment and employee behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(2117), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02117
- Hongal, P., & Kinange, U. (2020). A study on talent management and its impact on organization performance-an empirical review. *International Journal of Engineering and Management Research*, 10(1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.31033/ijemr.10.1.12
- Hosseini, S. A., Moghaddam, A., Damganian, H., & Shafiei Nikabadi, M. (2022). The effect of perceived corporate social responsibility and sustainable human resources on employee engagement with the moderating role of the employer

- brand. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 34(2), 101–121. https://doi.org/10.17230/ad-minister.30.10
- Hristov, I., & Chirico, A. (2019). The role of sustainability key performance indicators (KPIs) in implementing sustainable strategies. *Sustainability*, *11*(20), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205742
- Huang, H. C., Cheng, T. C. E., Huang, W. F., & Teng, C. I. (2018). Impact of online gamers' personality traits on interdependence, network convergence, and continuance intention: Perspective of social exchange theory. *International Journal of Information Management*, 38(1), 232–242.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.009
- Jabutay, F. A., & Rungruang, P. (2020). Turnover intent of new workers: Social exchange perspectives. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 13(1), 60–79. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-10-2019-0216
- Jahja, A. S., Ramalu, S. S., & Razimi, M. S. A. (2021). Generic qualitative research in management studies. *JRAK (Jurnal Riset Akuntansi Dan Bisnis)*, 7(1), 1–13. https://jurnal.plb.ac.id/index.php/JRAK/index
- Jashari, A., & Kutllovci, E. (2020). The impact of human resource management practices on organizational performance case study: Manufacturing enterprises in Kosovo. Verslas: Teorija Ir Praktika. *Business Theory & Practice*, 21(1), 222–229. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2020.12001

- Jeong, M., & Oh, H. (2017). Business-to-business social exchange relationship beyond trust and commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 65, 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.06.004
- Jeske, D., & Olson, D. (2021). Onboarding new hires: Recognising mutual learning opportunities, *Journal of Work-Applied Management*, *14*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1108/JWAM-04-2021-0036
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A review of the quality indicators of rigor in qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(1), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120
- Jooss, S., Burbach, R., & Ruel, H. (2019). Examining talent pools as a core talent management practice in multinational corporations. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1(32), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1579748
- Josan, I. J. (2020). Managing the employer brand to attract talents in the organization. *Manager*, 31(1), 24–34. https://ideas.repec.org/s/but/manage.html
- Kasparkova, L., Vaculík, M., Prochazka, J., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2018). Why resilient workers perform better: The roles of job satisfaction and work engagement.
  Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 33(1), 43–62.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2018.1441719
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. *Social Sciences*, 8(9), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8090255

- Kianto, A., Shujahat, M., Hussain, S., Nawaz, F., & Murad, A. (2019). The impact of knowledge management on knowledge worker productivity. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 14(2), 178–197. http://doi.org/10.1108/BJM-12-2017-0404
- Kirchner, M., & Stull, F. (2021). Employee onboarding and satisfaction in US manufacturing companies. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, *54*(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-06-2021-0044
- Kitsios, F., Kamariotou, M., & Talias, M. A. (2020). Corporate sustainability strategies and decision support methods: A bibliometric analysis. *Sustainability*, *12*(2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12020521
- Kumar, S. (2022). The impact of talent management practices on employee turnover and retention intentions. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 41(2), 21–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/joe.22130
- Lartey, F. M. (2021). Impact of career planning, employee autonomy, and manager recognition on employee engagement. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 9(2), 135–158. https://doi.org/10.4236/jhrss.2021.92010
- Lester, J. N., Cho, Y., & Lochmiller, C. R. (2020). Learning to do qualitative data analysis: A starting point. *Human Resource Development Review*, 19(1), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890
- Levitt, H. M., Morrill, Z., Collins, K. M., & Rizo, J. L. (2021). The methodological integrity of critical qualitative research: Principles to support design and research review. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 68(3), 357–370. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000523

- Li, Q., Mohamed, R., Mahomed, A., & Khan, H. (2022). The effect of perceived organizational support and employee care on turnover intention and work engagement: A mediated moderation model using age in the post pandemic period. *Sustainability*, 14(15), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14159125
- Lin, C. Y., & Huang, C. K. (2020). Employee turnover intentions and job performance from a planned change: The effects of an organizational learning culture and job satisfaction. *International Journal of Manpower*, *41*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-08-2018-0281
- Lin, H. J., Sheu, P. C. Y., Tsai, J. J., Wang, C. C., & Chou, C. Y. (2020). Text mining in a literature review of urothelial cancer using topic model. *BMC Cancer*, 20, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-020-06931-0
- Lin, J. T., Chen, P. C., Su, C. Y., & Chao, C. M. (2019). Behavioral intention to undertake health examinations: Transaction cost theory and social exchange theory. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 11(4), 100–112. https://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Liu, M., Li, J., Xiong, T., Liu, T., & Chen, M. (2021). Intermediary management and employee corporate culture identification mediation and mediation effect verification. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.545816
- Liu, Y. (2022). Paradigmatic Compatibility Matters: A critical review of qualitative-quantitative debate in mixed methods research. *SAGE Open*, *12*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221079922

- Livari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities. *Information Technology & People*, 31(1), 111–133. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Lloyd, R. A., & Mertens, D. (2018). Expecting more out of expectancy theory: History urges inclusion of the social context. *International Management Review*, 14(1), 28–43. http://www.imrjournal.org/
- Loon, M., & Quan, X. I. (2021). Theorizing business model innovation: An integrated literature review. *Australian Journal of Management*, 46(3), 548–577. https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896220976751
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Mäkikangas, A., Minkkinen, J., Muotka, J., & Mauno, S. (2021). Illegitimate tasks, job crafting and their longitudinal relationships with meaning of work. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 32*(17), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2021.1987956
- Mallette, L. A., & Saldana, J. (2019). Teaching qualitative data analysis through gaming.

  \*Qualitative Inquiry, 25(10), 1085–1090.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800418789458

- Mansoor, A., Sazali, A. W., & Jahan, S. (2021). Stimulation of innovative behavior through the inclusive leaders and engaged workers. *Verslas: Teorija Ir Praktika*, 22(2), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2021.13363
- McCartney, S., Murphy, C., & McCarthy, J. (2021). 21st century HR: A competency model for the emerging role of HR analysts. *Personnel Review*, 50(6), 1495–1513. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-12-2019-0670
- Meyers, M. C., van Woerkom, M., Paauwe, J., & Dries, N. (2020). HR managers' talent philosophies: Prevalence and relationships with perceived talent management practices. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *31*(4), 562–588. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2019.1579747
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University. Economic Series*, 17(4), 59–82. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3152355
- Moon, H., Ryu, K., & Park, S. (2021). The emergence of new policy coordination model in Korea: Empowering HRD at the sectoral level. *European Journal of Training* and *Development*, 45(8/9), 725–736. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-03-2020-0053
- Morales Serazzi, M., González-Benito, Ó., & Martos Partal, M. (2021). Achieving useful data analytics for marketing: Discrepancies in information quality for producers and users of information. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, *4*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/2340944421996343

- Motshwane, M., & Van Niekerk, A. (2022). Human capital investment selection criteria:

  Who is worth the investment? *South African Journal of Human Resource Management*, 2(0), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v20i0.2086
- Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215
- Mozersky, J., Parsons, M., Walsh, H., Baldwin, K., McIntosh, T., & DuBois, J. M. (2020). Research participant views regarding qualitative data sharing. *Ethics & Human Research*, 42(2), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/eahr.500044
- Muhlbacher, H., & Bobel, I. (2019). From zero-sum to win-win-organizational conditions for successful shared value strategy implementation. *European Management Journal*, 37(3), 313–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.10.007
- Nagpal, P. (2022). Organizational commitment as an outcome of employee engagement:

  A social exchange perceptive using a SEM model. *International Journal of Biology, Pharmacy, and Allied Sciences, 11*(1), 72–86.

  https://doi.org/10.31032/IJBPAS/2022/11.1.1008
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects and Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

  https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html

- Navio-Marco, J., Solórzano-García, M., & Palencia-González, F. J. (2019). Human resource management as key pillar of company strategy: Analysis of the line managers' perception. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 25(2), 175–188. https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2018.49
- Negrin, K. A., Slaughter, S. E., Dahlke, S., & Olson, J. (2022). Successful recruitment to qualitative research: A critical reflection. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 21, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221119576
- Nowak, R., & Haynes, J. (2018). Friendships with benefits? Examining the role of friendship in semistructured interviews within music research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(4), 425–438. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1431192
- Nyumba, T., Wilson, K., Derrick, C. J., & Mukherjee, N. (2018). The use of focus group discussion methodology: Insights from two decades of application in conservation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*(1), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12860
- Pacitti, A. (2021). The cost of job loss, long-term unemployment, and wage growth.

  \*\*Journal of Post Keynesian Economics, 44(4), 509–536.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/01603477.2020.1835494
- Peccei, R., & Van De Voorde, K. (2019). The application of the multilevel paradigm in human resource management—outcomes research: Taking stock and going forward. *Journal of Management*, 45(2), 786–818. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316673720

- Peltokorpi, V., Feng, J., Pustovit, S., Allen, D. G., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2022). The interactive effects of socialization tactics and work locus of control on newcomer work adjustment, job embeddedness, and voluntary turnover. *Human Relations*, 75(1), 177–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726720986843
- Pembi, S. (2019). Vroom's expectancy theory and its application in management of incentives scheme in Adamawa plastic company, Yola, Nigeria. *International Journal of Trend in Scientific Research and Development*, 3(5), 334–339. https://doi.org/10.31142/ijtsrd25278
- Piasecki, P. (2020). Dimensions of HR differentiation: The effect on job satisfaction, affective commitment, and turnover intentions. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 15(1), 21–41. https://doi.org/10.1108/BJM-05-2019-0178
- Portal, S., Abratt, R., & Bendixen, M. (2018). Building a human brand: Brand anthropomorphism unraveled. *Business Horizons*, 61(3), 367–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2018.01.003
- Porter, C. M. (2018). Long live social exchange theory. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 11(3), 498–504. http://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.102
- Raheem, A., & Khan, M. A. (2019). Impact of talent management on organizational effectiveness: Mediation model of psychological contract. *Business and Economic Review*, 11(2), 149–179. http://bereview.pk/index.php/BER/article/view/304
- Ravi-Kumar, K. M. (2020). Employee retention Challenges and realities faced by corporates for new recruits as well as existing employees. *Ushus Journal of Business Management*, 19(4), 75–93. https://doi.org/10.12725/ujbm.53.6

- Reina, C. S., Rogers, K. M., Peterson, S. J., Byron, K., & Hom, P. W. (2018). Quitting the boss? The role of manager influence tactics and employee emotional engagement in voluntary turnover. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 25(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817709007
- Rich, L. L., & Rich, J. C. (2021). The value of incorporating values into recruiting and mentoring programs: Certified public accountant. *The CPA Journal*, 91(12), 38–40. https://www.cpajournal.com/
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. B. (2019). Attempting rigor and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(9), 3185–3203.

  https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss9/1/
- Rosiek, J. L., & Snyder, J. (2020). Narrative inquiry and new materialism: Stories as (not necessarily benign) agents. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 26(10), 1151–1162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800418784326
- Saad, Z. M., Sudin, S., & Shamsuddin, N. (2018). The influence of leadership style, personality attributes and employee communication on employee engagement. 

  Global Business and Management Research, 10(3), 743–753. 

  https://globaljournals.org

- Saffer, A. J. (2019). Fostering social capital in an international multi-stakeholder issue network. *Public Relations Review*, *45*(2), 282–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.02.004
- Sagnak, M., Ada, E., & Kazancoglu, Y. (2019). A new holistic conceptual framework for layout performance assessment: IMS. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology*Management, 30(1), 233–260. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-03-2018-0086
- Saleh, R., & Atan, T. (2021). The involvement of sustainable talent management practices on employee's job satisfaction: Mediating effect of organizational culture. *Sustainability*, *13*(23), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132313320
- Salvador, A. B., & Ikeda, A. A. (2018). Brand crisis management: The use of information for prevention, identification, and management. *Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios*, 20(1), 74–91. https://doi.org/10.7819/rbgn.v20i1.3583
- Sanchez, J. L., Mora-Valentín, E. M., & Ortiz-de-Urbina-Criado, M. (2018). Successful human resources management factors in international mergers and acquisitions.

  \*Administrative Sciences, 8(3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci8030045
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schaarschmidt, M., Walsh, G., & Ivens, S. (2021). Digital war for talent: How profile reputations on company rating platforms drive job seekers' application

- intentions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *131*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2021.103644
- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Scheffelaar, A., Janssen, M., & Luijkx, K. (2021). The story as a quality instrument:

  Developing an instrument for quality improvement based on narratives of older adults receiving long-term care. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052773
- Schultz, T. W. (1961). Investment in human capital. *The American Economic Review*, 51(1), 1-17. https://www.aeaweb.org/
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *6*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706
- Sharma, G. G., & Stol, K. J. (2020). Exploring onboarding success, organizational fit, and turnover intention of software professionals. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 159, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2019.110442
- Sheppard, D. L. (2018). The dividends of diversity: The win-win model is taking over business and it necessitates diversity. *Strategic HR Review*, *17*(3) 126–130. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-03-2018-0017
- Shin, S. I., Lee, K. Y., & Hall, D. J. (2022). Examining the role of perceived social benefit and trust matter in sustainability of online social networking community-

- social exchange theory perspective. *International Journal of Web Based Communities*, 18(2), 109–129. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJWBC.2022.124758
- Shufutinsky, A., & Cox, R. (2019). Losing talent on day one: Onboarding millennial employees in health care organizations. *Organization Development Journal*, 37(4), 33–51. https://isodc.org/OD\_journal
- Skelton, A. R., Nattress, D., & Dwyer, R. J. (2020). Predicting manufacturing employee turnover intentions, *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science*, 25(49), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEFAS-07-2018-0069
- Skukauskaite, A., Yilmazli Trout, I., & Robinson, K. A. (2022). Deepening reflexivity through art in learning qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 22(3), 403–420. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794120985676
- Slebarska, K., Soucek, R., & Moser, K. (2019). Increasing proactive coping in organizational newcomers: Improving job adaptation or rocking the boat? *Journal* of Career Development, 46(3), 295–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845318763947
- Smith, B. (2018). Generalizability in qualitative research: Misunderstandings, opportunities and recommendations for the sport and exercise sciences.

  \*Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 10(1), 137–149.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2017.1393221
- Steinhoff, R. L. (2021). Assessing leaders' power limits over followers. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 53(2), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-02-2020-0017

- Stofkova, Z., & Sukalova, V. (2020). Sustainable development of human resources in globalization period. *Sustainability*, *12*(18), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12187681
- Taba, M. I. (2018). Mediating effect of work performance and organizational commitment in the relationship between reward system and employees' work satisfaction. *The Journal of Management Development*, *37*(1), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-11-2016-0256
- Taquette, S. R., & Borges da Matta Souza, L. M. (2022). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research: A critical literature review. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 21, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069221078731
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155–163. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022
- Theurer, C. P., Tumasjan, A., Welpe, I. M., & Lievens, F. (2018). Employer branding: A brand equity-based literature review and research agenda. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 20(1), 155–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12121
- Tobi, H., & Kampen, J. K. (2018). Research design: The methodology for interdisciplinary research framework. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(3), 1209–1225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0513-8
- Tresna, P. W., Muhyi, H. A., & Bagaskara, R. S. (2019). Career management and its effect on employee job satisfaction. *Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research*, 8(2), 209–221. http://buscompress.com/journal-home.html

- Tsachouridi, I., & Nikandrou, I. (2020). The role of prosocial motives and social exchange in mediating the relationship between organizational virtuousness' perceptions and employee outcomes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 166(3), 535–551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-04102-7
- Umans, I., Lybaert, N., Steijvers, T., & Voordeckers, W. (2021). The influence of transgenerational succession intentions on the succession planning process: The moderating role of high-quality relationships. *Journal of Family Business*Strategy, 12(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2018.12.002
- Urbinati, A., Bogers, M., Chiesa, V., & Frattini, F. (2019). Creating and capturing value from big data: A multiple-case study analysis of provider companies.

  \*Technovation, 84, 21–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.07.004
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (n.d.). The employment situation-October 2022.
  Retrieved August 17, 2022, from
  https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/empsit.pdf
- Van Belle, E., Di Stasio, V., Caers, R., De Couck, M., & Baert, S. (2018). Why are employers put off by long spells of unemployment? *European Sociological Review*, *34*(6), 694–710. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcy039
- Van der Heijden, B. I., Peeters, M. C. W., Le Blanc, P. M., & Van Breukelen, J. W. M. (2018). Job characteristics and experience as predictors of occupational turnover intention and occupational turnover in the European nursing sector. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 108, 108–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.06.008

- Vaneet, K., & Neha, V. (2018). Linking dimensions of employer branding and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 26(2), 282–295. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-03-2017-1134
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Verma, P., Kumar, V., Mittal, A., Gupta, P., & Hsu, S. C. (2022). Addressing strategic human resource management practices for TQM: The case of an Indian tire manufacturing company. *The TQM Journal*, 34(1), 29–69. https://doi.org/10.1108/TQM-02-2021-0037
- Victor, J., & Hoole, C. (2017). The influence of organizational rewards on workplace trust and work engagement. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *15*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v15i0.853
- Virgolino, A., Costa, J., Santos, O., Pereira, M. E., Antunes, R., Ambrosio, S., & Vaz Carneiro, A. (2022). Lost in transition: A systematic review of the association between unemployment and mental health. *Journal of Mental Health*, 31(3), 432–444. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2021.2022615
- Wadams, M., & Park, T. (2018). Qualitative research in correctional settings: Researcher bias, Western ideological influences, and social justice. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 14(2), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1097/JFN.0000000000000199

- Whitham, M. M. (2021). Generalized generosity: How the norm of generalized reciprocity bridges collective forms of social exchange. *American Sociological Review*, 86(3), 503–531. https://doi.org/10.1177/00031224211007450
- Wongsuwan, N., & Na-Nan, K. (2022). Mediating effects of self-efficacy, resilience, and job satisfaction on the relationship between person-organization fit and employee work adjustment. *Sustainability*, *14*(18), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su141811787
- Woodrow, C., & Guest, D. E. (2020). Pathways through organizational socialization: A longitudinal qualitative study based on the psychological contract. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 93(1), 110–133.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12285
- Xiu, L., Liang, X., Chen, Z., & Xu, W. (2017). Strategic flexibility, innovative HR practices, and firm performance: A moderated mediation model. *Personnel Review*, 46(7), 1335–1357. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-09-2016-0252
- Yaseen, H., Shatnawi, Y., & Obeidat, B. (2018). Reviewing the literature of the effect of talent management on organizational effectiveness. *Journal of Social Sciences* (COES&RJ-JSS), 7(2), 139–156. https://doi.org/10.25255/jss.2018.7.2.139.156
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700–2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Younas, M., & Bari, M. W. (2020). The relationship between talent management practices and retention of generation y employees: Mediating role of competency development. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 33(1), 1330–1353. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2020.1748510
- Zaharee, M., Lipkie, T., Mehlman, S. K., & Neylon, S. K. (2018). Recruitment and retention of early-career technical talent: What young employees want from employers. A study of the workplace attributes that attract early-career workers suggests that Millennials may not be so different from earlier generations.

  \*Research-Technology Management, 61(5), 51–61.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2018.1495966
- Zhang, Y., Crant, J. M., & Weng, Q. (2019). Role stressors and counterproductive work behavior: The role of negative affect and proactive personality. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 27(3), 267–279. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijsa.12255
- Zhao, L., & Detlor, B. (2021). Towards a contingency model of knowledge sharing:

  Interaction between social capital and social exchange theories. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, 21(1), 197–209.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/14778238.2020.1866444

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol	
What you will do	What you will say-script
Introduce the interview and set the stage—often over a meal or coffee	I introduced myself as a doctoral candidate followed by:  I cannot thank you enough for taking the time out of your busy schedule to participate in this interview process. As we discussed over the phone and through correspondence, I am conducting a study on successful onboarding strategies. The interview is one of the most important elements of a qualitative study and is intended to garner your independent accounts and personal experiences related to the implementation of successful onboarding strategies. The intent of the interview questions for this study are to discover the origins of your organizations strategic successes and the processes used. Just as a reminder I will be recording the interview process to ensure a complete and accurate transcription.  If you do not have any further questions, I will begin the interview.
Watch for non- verbal queues	1. What onboarding strategies do you use to reduce employee turnover?
<ul> <li>Paraphrase as needed</li> </ul>	2. What role does onboarding play in achieving strategic goals?
Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in-depth	3. What elements of your onboarding program are the most successful in reducing employee turnover?
	4. What elements of your onboarding program are the least successful in reducing employee turnover?
	5. How do you determine if the onboarding strategy is successful in reducing employee turnover?
	6. What challenges have you faced in implementing an onboarding strategy to reduce employee turnover?
	7. What additional information would you like to share about the onboarding strategies you used to reduce employee turnover?
Wrap up interview thanking participant	This concludes the interview process; do you have any other questions at this time?

Again, I appreciate your time and contribution toward the completion of this study.

A final step in the interviewing process is to conduct a followup session called "member checking." This is where you review a synthesis of your transcribed responses to my questions. This gives you the opportunity to ensure that I correctly captured your responses and for you to add or omit information from your responses.

## Follow-up member checking procedure

I will conduct member checking to confirm that responses were correctly captured and add, change, or omit information. I will provide my interpretation of the interview by email. You have one week to review and ensure researcher interpretations of their responses were captured accurately and without bias or enhancements. At the end of the one I will send you a follow-up email to validate my interpretation of your responses, answer any additional questions, and finalize the interview process. If there is no response within three days of sending the email, I will follow-up with a phone call to answer any questions you may have regarding the interview result and process. This conversation should take no longer than 30-45 minutes.

## Appendix B: Telephone Protocol

*Greeting of the day [Name]:* 

My name is Mark Carpenter, and I am a doctoral student with Walden

University pursuing a Doctor of Business Administration degree. I am researching

successful onboarding strategies leaders use to reduce employee turnover, entitled:

"Effective Onboarding Strategies to Increase Talent Retention."

I am requesting one-on-one interviews with HR leaders who have experience in successfully implementing onboarding programs. If you provide me with your email address, I can send you additional details of the study.

I appreciate your consideration of this request and believe that your organization would benefit from participation in this study.

Document representatives' response.

Again, thank you for your time and consideration.